Effects of D- Mannose on atherosclerosis

Jonathan Alejandro O'Connor Miranda

Department of Experimental Medicine Faculty of Medicine McGill University, Montreal

Submitted August 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

© Jonathan Alejandro O'Connor Miranda, 2022

Table of Contents

Abstract (English)	
Résumé (français)	6
Acknowledgements	
Contribution of authors	9
List of Figures and Tables	
Introduction	11
List of abbreviations	12
1. Literature review	13
 1.1 Atherosclerosis 1.1.1 Overview of atherosclerosis 1.1.2 Biomechanical basis of atherosclerosis 1.1.3 ApoE knockout mouse model 1.1.4 Initiation of atherosclerosis 	13 13 13 14 14
 1.2 Atherosclerosis and gut microbiota 1.2.1 Microbiota 1.2.2 Metabolism of gut microbiota 1.2.3 Gut microbiota and diseases 	
 1.3 D-mannose 1.3.1 Diet sugars and physiopathology 1.3.2 Metabolism of mannose 1.3.3 Mannose and inflammation 1.3.4 Mannose and gut microbiota 	28 28 30 30 31
2. Hypothesis	
3. Methods	
3.1 Mouse handling, high fat regimen and mannose supplementation	
3.2 Plasma lipids, mannose and LPS	
3.3 Gut microbiota composition	
3.4 Cryosectioning and tissue staining	
3.5 Extraction of primary bone marrow cells	
3.6 Peritoneal macrophage cells extraction	
3.7 Western blot	
3.8 Flow cytometry	
3.9 Statistical methods	
4. Results	

4.1 Oral mannose supplementation did not change HFD-induced body weight increase and plasma lipids and increased plasma mannose levels
4.2 Oral mannose supplementation prevented HFD-induced increase of F/B ratio43
4.3 Oral mannose supplementation reduced proinflammatory macrophages in the small44
intestine and prevented plasma LPS increase44
4.4 Oral mannose supplementation does not have an effect in the intestine permeability45
4.5 Oral mannose decreases small peritoneal macrophage proportions and recruitment in the peritoneal cavity
4.6 Oral mannose reduces proportions of circulating Ly6C-expressing monocytes47
4.7 Oral mannose reduced atherosclerotic plaque development
4.8 Oral mannose supplementation increased atherosclerotic plaque stability49
4.9 Mannose supplementation by IP injections did not change atherosclerotic plaque development
5. Discussion
6. Conclusions
7. References
8. Copyright

Abstract (English)

Background: D-mannose, a C-2 epimer of glucose, is an important monosaccharide for protein glycosylation that is widely distributed in body fluids and tissues. Interestingly, D-mannose has been shown to prevent obesity in C57BL/6 young mice fed a high fat diet (HFD) through regulation of gut microbiota. Furthermore, several studies have shown that mannose exhibits potent anti-inflammatory properties. What remains undefined is whether D-mannose regulates atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory disease of the arteries initiated and driven by sub-endothelial oxidised lipid accumulation. We hypothesize that D-mannose supplementation would alleviate the pro- atherogenic effects of HFD by regulating the gut microbiota and inflammation.

Methods & results: ApoE knockout mice, an atheroprone mouse model, received a HFD during 9 weeks. Concurrently, one group of mice received 0 (control), 5 or 20% D-mannose administered orally and another group received intraperitoneal (IP) injections of 5g/kg D-mannose 5 times a week or PBS as a control. Increases in body weight and plasma lipid levels were equivalent in all mannose-supplemented groups as compared with Ctr groups. Plasma mannose levels increased by 2.4 and 1.4 times in mice orally supplemented with 5 and 20% D-mannose respectively (89±15 (5%), 51±16 (20%) vs 37±5ng/ml) (P<0.05). Gut microbiota 16S sequencing analysis indicated a significant increase in Firmicutes/Bacteriodetes ratio in mice fed a HFD (HFD Ctr) compared with Chow diet (Chow Ctr), this increase was prevented in mice fed a HFD supplemented with 20% mannose (HFD+20% mannose) (4.8±0.9 (HFD Ctr), 2.8±0.4 (20%) vs 1.7 ± 0.3 ng/ml). This was associated with a decrease in intestinal F4/80+ macrophage number. Oral D-mannose supplementation at 5 and 20% also reduced by twice the expression of lipopolysaccharide receptor, Toll-like receptor 4 on macrophages in the lamina propria of small intestine compared with Ctr, P<0.05 and P<0.01. This suggests an anti-inflammatory effect of mannose in the gut. Accordingly, plasma LPS levels were increased by HFD compared with chow (11 vs 6 EU) and 20% mannose supplementation prevented this increase. Flow cytometry performed on blood and peritoneal cavity cells revealed that proportions of blood proinflammatory Ly6C^{HI} monocytes as well as thioglycolate-elicited small peritoneal macrophages (SPM) were reduced significantly by 40 and 34% respectively, in 20% oral D-mannose mice vs 0% controls. In addition, bone marrow progenitor cells as well as Ly6C+ monocytes were evaluated by flow cytometry. c-Kit+sca1- progenitors and Ly6C^{LO/HI}-expressing monocyte ratio

was significantly decreased by 22 and 42% in oral 20% mannose-treated mice vs 0% controls. Importantly, atherosclerotic plaque size as determined by Oil red O staining, was significantly reduced in mice receiving 5 and 20% D-mannose in drinking water compared with 0% Ctr (aortic sinus: 0.23 ± 0.03 (5%), 0.20 ± 0.05 (20%) vs 0.42 ± 0.04 mm², brachiocephalic artery: $0.05\pm0.01(5\%)$, 0.05 ± 0.02 (20%) vs 0.08 ± 0.01 mm²; P<0.05. Plaque stability index was evaluated by plaque α -smooth muscle actin and necrotic core ratio, which was increased by 4 times in 20% oral mannose treated mice as compared with control group, P<0.05. However, CD68+ macrophages within plaques were not different between oral mannose and control groups. Interestingly, no changes in plaque size were observed between mannose supplemented by IP and control (PBS) groups in the aortic sinus and the brachiocephalic artery (BCA). These results suggest the possible involvement of gut microbiota in the observed athero-protective effect of mannose.

Conclusion: Taking together, oral D-mannose supplementation reduces atherosclerotic lesions in mice and increases plaque stability. These protective effects of D-mannose could possibly occur through inhibition of pro-inflammatory monocytes/macrophages following regulation of gut microbiota composition.

Résumé (français)

Contexte et hypothèse: D-mannose (mannose henceforth) , un C-2 épimère du glucose, est un monosaccharide important pour la glycosylation des protéines et qui est très présent dans les fluides corporels et les tissus. Il a été démontré que mannose prévient l'obésité chez les jeunes souris C57BL/6 nourries avec un régime riche en gras par la régulation du microbiote intestinal. De plus, plusieurs études ont montré que le mannose a de puissantes propriétés antiinflammatoires. Ce qui reste inconnu est si le mannose régule l'athérosclérose, une maladie inflammatoire chronique des artères initiée et entraînée par l'accumulation de lipides oxydés sous la couche des cellules endothéliales. Nous émettons l'hypothèse que la supplémentation en mannose atténuerait les effets pro-athérogéniques du régime riche en gras en régulant le microbiote intestinal et l'inflammation.

Méthodes et résultats : Des souris ApoE^{-/-}, qui est un modèle athéroprone, ont reçu un régime riche en gras pendant 9 semaines. Un groupe de souris a reçu 0 (Ctr), 2, 5, 10 ou 20% de mannose administré par voie orale et un autre groupe a reçu des injections intrapéritonéales (IP) de 5g/kg de mannose 5 fois par semaine ou du PBS comme control. Les augmentations du poids corporel et des taux de lipides plasmatiques étaient équivalentes dans tous les groupes expérimentaux supplémentés en mannose par rapport aux groupes Ctr. Les taux plasmatiques de mannose était augmenté de 2.4 et 1.4 fois chez les souris supplémentées par voie orale avec 5 et 20% de mannose respectivement (89±15 (5%), 51±16 (20%) vs 37±5 ng/ml) (P<0.05). L'analyse du séquençage 16S du microbiote intestinal a indiqué une augmentation significative du rapport des bactéries Firmicutes/Bacteriodetes chez les souris sous régime riche en gras par rapport au régime normal, cette augmentation a été prévenue chez les souris sous régime riche additionné de 20% de mannose (HFD+20% mannose) (4.8±0.9 (HFD Ctr), 2.8±0.4 (20 %) vs 1.7±0.3). Ces résultats étaient associés à une diminution du nombre de macrophages intestinaux F4/80+. La supplémentation orale en mannose à 5 et 20% a également réduit de 50% l'expression du récepteur de lipopolysaccharide (LPS), TLR-4 sur les macrophages de la lamina propria de l'intestin grêle par rapport au groupe Ctr, P<0.05 et P<0.01. Ces résultats suggèrent un effet anti-inflammatoire du mannose dans l'intestin. En conséquence, le taux plasmatique de LPS était augmenté par le régime riche en gras par rapport au régime normal (11 vs 6 EU) et une supplémentation en 20% mannose a empêché cette augmentation. La cytométrie de flux réalisée sur les cellules sanguine et de la cavité péritonéale a montré une réduction significative des proportions de monocytes proinflammatoires Ly6C^{HI} ainsi que des petits macrophages péritonéaux (SPM) induits par le thioglycolate de 40 et 34% respectivement, chez les souris avec 20% de mannose vs 0%. Les cellules progénitrices de la moelle osseuse ainsi que les monocytes Ly6C+ ont également été évalués par cytométrie de flux. Les progénitrices (c-Kit+Sca1-) et le ratio des monocytes Ly6C^{LO/HI} étaient significativement diminués de 22 et 42% chez les souris traitées avec 20% de mannose par voie orale par rapport aux Ctr. La taille de la plaque d'athérosclérose, déterminée par coloration à l'huile rouge, était significativement réduite chez les souris recevant 5 et 20% de mannose oralement par rapport aux Ctr (sinus aortique : 0.23±0.03 (5%), 0.20±0.05 (20%) vs 0.42 ± 0.04 mm², artère brachiocéphalique : 0.05 ± 0.01 (5%), 0.05 ± 0.02 (20%) vs 0.08 ± 0.01 mm², P<0.05. L'indice de stabilité de la plaque a été évalué par le ratio de α -smooth muscle actin de la plaque et les cores nécrotiques. Le ratio était quatre fois plus grand chez les souris traitées au mannose à 20% par rapport au groupe control, P <0.05. Cependant, les macrophages CD68 + de la plaque etaient identiques entre les groupes mannose et Ctr. Aucune modification dans la taille de la plaque n'a été observée entre les groupes mannose et contrôles (PBS) dans le sinus aortique et l'artère brachiocéphalique. Ce résultat suggère l'implication du microbiote intestinal dans l'effet athéro-protecteur observé du mannose.

Conclusion: La supplémentation orale en mannose réduit les lésions athérosclérotiques chez la souris et augmente la stabilité de la plaque. Ces effets protecteurs du mannose pourraient possiblement être attribués à l'inhibition des monocytes/macrophages pro-inflammatoires suite à une régulation de la composition du microbiote intestinal.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Stephanie Lehoux, for giving me the opportunity to work on this project in her lab, for her financial support, and for her constant guidance and directing of my experiments. I would also like to thank our lab manager, Dr. Talin Ebrahimian, for helping me to interpret and analyze my results, and particularly for teaching me how to perform most of the techniques that I know of the laboratory.

Next, I would like to thank our postdoctoral fellow, Dr. France Dierick, who helped me greatly with my mouse dissections, tissue sectioning, histological staining, and microscopic imaging. I would also like to thank our lab technicians, Maria Kotsiopriftis, who taught me how to perform Western blots, qPCR, and the plasmid cloning and transfection experiments.

Outside of our immediate lab, I would like to give special thanks to my academic advisor, Dr. Francois Mercier, and to my thesis committee members, Dr. Colin Crist and Dr. Koren Mann for taking the time to attend my annual progress meetings and provide me with insightful feedback and recommendations for my project. I would also like to thank the staff of the animal facility at the Lady Davis Institute for their constant vigilance and support of our animals throughout our experiments, as well as Christian Young from the flow cytometry lab for his expertise in flow cytometry and cell counting. Also, I would like to appreciate the support of CONACYT for the financial support during my degree.

Contribution of authors

I (Jonathan O'Connor) reviewed and synthesized the relevant literature in order to put this project into a meaningful context. I wrote the present thesis in its entirety, receiving some feedback and corrections from my supervisor, Dr. Stephanie Lehoux and my research associate Talin Ebrahimian. Finally, I was partly or fully involved in carrying out all the experiments and analyses described below, with training and guidance from several members of my lab.

Dr. Stephanie Lehoux is the lab's principal investigator and my thesis project supervisor. She provided me with feedback, guidance, and support throughout the entire project. Dr. Lehoux generated the hypothesis underlying this project and designed the experiments to be conducted. Dr. France Dierick, a postdoctoral fellow in our lab, trained me to perform the mouse dissections and other *in vivo* techniques. Dr. Dierick taught me how to perform whole tissue preparation, cryosectioning, and immunofluorescence staining of the tissue sections. Finally, Dr. Talin Ebrahimian, helped me greatly in conducting the flow cytometry experiments and analyses. She provided significant feedback and corrections in translating the abstract of this thesis to French.

Dr. Ebrahimian provided thorough guidance through my thesis project. Most notably, she taught me how to extract bone marrow cells from mice, and to perform migration and stimulation experiments with these cells. She also taught me how to extract macrophages from the mouse peritoneal cavity. Dr. Ebrahimian designed the panel of fluorescent antibodies used in this thesis. Maria Kotsiopriftis taught me how to perform western blots and DNA extraction.

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 01. Disruption of regular, laminar blood flow	
Figure 02. Foam cells	15
Figure 03. Physiopathology of atherosclerosis	19
Figure 04. Gut microbiota metabolites	25
Figure 05. Production of trimethylamine-N-oxide (TMAO)	
Figure 06. Mannose metabolism	30
Figure 07. Aortic sinus and brachiocephalic artery	35
Figure 08. Table of antibodies used for flow cytometry	40
Figure 09. Animal parameters	42
Figure 10. Fecal DNA P16S sequencing	43
Figure 11. Intestinal macrophages and plasma LPS	44
Figure 12. Tight junction proteins.	45
Figure 13. Peritoneal macrophages	46
Figure 14. Blood count and monocytes	47
Figure 15. Atherosclerotic plaques	48
Figure 16. Plaque composition and stability.	49
Figure 17. Intra peritoneal injected- animal parameters	50
Supplemental Figure	

Introduction

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease that plays an essential role in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease (CVD), a leading cause of death worldwide. Lipid lowering statins are currently used as a drug therapy to reduce cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. However, many patients are still at risk for experiencing relapses in heart attacks and other CVD events. Therefore, it is important to complement the therapy with lifestyle changes, a key in reducing cardiovascular events. Atherosclerosis develops from different modifiable and nonmodifiable risk factors, such as obesity and diabetes mellitus directly influenced by our diet. Dmannose (mannose henceforth), a C-2 epimer of glucose, is a monosaccharide approximately a hundred times less abundant than glucose in human blood. It plays important roles in the glycosylation of certain human native proteins and previous studies have demonstrated that mannose, from now on called mannose, has immunoregulatory effects and prevents mouse weight gain under high fat diet (HFD) conditions through regulation of gut microbiota. Gut microbiota is the collection of bacteria that inhabit in the gastrointestinal tract producing a diverse ecosystem about 10¹⁴ microorganisms and the homeostasis of gut microbiota is critical for maintaining human health. Gut dysbiosis has been shown to contribute to the development of various diseases including CVD. We hypothesize that mannose supplementation to HFD in mouse could through regulation of the gut microbiota inhibit inflammation and prevent atherosclerosis.

List of abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette transporters
ApoB	Apolipoprotein B
BA	bile acid
BCA	Brachiocephalic artery
CAM	Cell adhesion molecules
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
EC	Endothelial cells
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EndMT	Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition
FC	Foam cell
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
HFD	High Fat Diet
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
LPM	Large peritoneal macrophages
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
NC	Necrotic core
OxLDL	Oxidised LDL
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PerC	Peritoneal cavity
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SCFA	Short chain fatty acid
SPM	Small peritoneal macrophages
SR	Scavenger receptor
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VSMC	Vascular smooth muscle cell

1. Literature review

1.1 Atherosclerosis

1.1.1 Overview of atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease in which the gradual accumulation of excess circulating lipids and immune cells in the arterial wall produces lesions, called plaques, that progressively narrow the arterial lumen. While these plaques can remain clinically silent throughout the first several decades of life, their continual growth can eventually lead to the partial or complete blockage of the affected arterial segments, impairing circulation to downstream tissues. More importantly, they may become increasingly unstable and susceptible to rupturing over time; when this occurs, the release of plaque contents into the circulation triggers a rapid formation of blood clots, which can obstruct blood flow either immediately at the site of formation or elsewhere in the circulation following their dislodgement. This results in tissue death and is the main cause of life-threatening cardiovascular diseases such as heart attack and stroke [1, 2].

1.1.2 Biomechanical basis of atherosclerosis

Atherosclerotic lesions begin to develop in childhood where accumulation of the lipids in the wall and foam cells have been detected in infants as early as 6 months [3-7]. They tend to form

specifically at vascular transition points such as bifurcations, branch points, and curvatures, where the vessel deviates from a straight line and imposes an abrupt change the direction flow and generating oscillatory shear of the region [8-16]. As shown in Figure 1 [17], the flow patterns exert oscillatory shear stress. Most regions of adult arteries are exposed to high shear stress, which is associated with protection from atherosclerotic plaque development [18, 19]. Nevertheless, lesions can still form here in severe cases [20, 21]. Branches and bends are exposed to low and oscillatory shear stress, which causes inappropriate activation of developmental signalling pathways, leading to



Figure 1. The disruption of regular, laminar blood flow at vascular transition points serves as the biomechanical basis for the initial formation of atherosclerotic plaques.

increased inflammation and vascular permeability, which are the hallmarks of early atherogenesis [22-25].

1.1.3 ApoE knockout mouse model

Despite its limitations, the mouse remains the favored species for atherosclerosis investigation due to the ease of breeding, low cost of maintenance, and relatively short period for developing atherosclerosis. The two most frequently used models of mouse atherosclerosis are the ApoE E-/- model and the LDLR-/- model. They differ in their dietary needs for developing atherosclerosis. The ApoE -/- model is perhaps the most widely used. The advantage of the ApoE -/- model is that complex vascular lesions develop in animals fed the normal low fat chow diet, even when plasma cholesterol levels are between 300-500 mg/dl. These lesions are comparable to human lesions. The rate of atherogenesis can be notably accelerated by the feeding of a HFD, resulting in significant increases in plasma lipid levels (>1,000 mg/dl). Pathological analysis of the evolution of atherosclerosis in ApoE -/- mice fed either chow or HFD represents the best systematic analysis of lesion development in mice [26]. Lesions developed in the aortic root, the brachiocephalic artery and other branches of the aorta, as well as the pulmonary and carotid arteries. Despite the widespread use of the ApoE -/- model, it has several disadvantages. Plasma cholesterol is mostly carried on lipoprotein remnants rather than the LDL, which is the most frequent "offending" particle in human atherosclerosis. The hyperlipoproteinemia of ApoE -/mice is largely attributable to the absence of the lipoprotein ligand for the major cell surface receptors responsible for high affinity plasma lipoprotein clearance. However, ApoE has other functions affecting macrophage biology, immune function and adipose tissue biology [27], each of which could have an impact on atherosclerosis independent of plasma lipid levels.

1.1.4 Initiation of atherosclerosis

1.1.4.1 Role of lipids in atherosclerotic plaque formation

Early in life, long before the onset of any pathological changes, the intima (the most inner layer of arteries, which includes the endothelium along with the underlying extracellular matrix (ECM) and smooth muscle cells (SMCs)) undergoes an adaptive thickening in the aforementioned susceptible regions of low shear stress, as a result of the non-uniform hemodynamic conditions

that occur there [28-30]. Physiologically, this helps to maintain vascular homeostasis by stabilizing blood flow velocity and preserving structural integrity [31-35]. These thickened regions tend to

collect LDLs, one of the main lipid carriers in the systemic circulation and a major component of the atherosclerotic plaques. Although there are low levels of LDL found in the healthy intima [36-38], abundant LDL accumulation is considered the initiating event in atherogenesis [28, 39-42]. In addition to increased endothelial permeability [43-50], these vulnerable areas have increased lipoprotein retention [40, 42, 50] through ionic interactions between the positively-charged apolipoprotein B (ApoB, the major protein scaffold component of LDL) and the negatively-charged proteoglycans



Figure 2. Foam cell. Transmission electron microscopy in the human arterial intima, the majority of monocytes differentiate and transform into foam cells.

in the intimal ECM [48]. It is now well understood that the progression of atherosclerosis does not simply involve a passive accumulation of lipids, but rather a complex inflammatory response in which various immune cells, particularly monocytes, are recruited in an attempt to remove LDL from the plaque [51, 52]. These phagocytes take up the LDL via cell surface LDL receptors (LDLR), a process that is regulated by negative feedback. The increase in intracellular cholesterol is detected by transcription factors called sterol regulatory element-binding proteins, which downregulates LDLR at the cell surface to prevent excess LDL uptake [53-57]. In addition, high intracellular cholesterol levels upregulate ATP-binding cassette transporters, ABCA1 and ABCG1 [58] . These proteins load cholesterol into high-density lipoprotein (HDL) [59-61], the "good cholesterol" carrier which recirculates excess cholesterol from tissues back to the liver, where it can be eliminated through bile excretion.

LDL undergoes modifications, especially oxidation (oxLDL), in the intima [62], and is taken up through scavenger receptors (SRs) such as SR-A and SR-B (CD36) or lectin-like oxLDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) [63, 64]. Unlike LDLR, SR-mediated uptake of modified LDL is not regulated by negative feedback, thereby permitting substantial intracellular LDL accumulation and macrophage foam cell (FC) formation (Figure 2[65]) [53, 66-69].

1.1.4.2 Cells involved in plaque formation

- Endothelial cells

Endothelial cells (ECs) play an important role in sensing the biomechanical factors that predispose certain regions of the arteries to atherosclerosis according to the changes in the shear stress [70, 71]. These cells can detect through mechanoreceptors and the cytoskeleton these changes in the stress influence the gene expression in ECs, allowing them to adaptively respond to hemodynamic changes [72-75]. Some genes described are bone morphogenetic protein 4, transforming growth factor- β , components of the WNT signalling pathway, genes related to endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EndMT), the transcription factor hypoxia-inducible factor 1 α and its targets vascular endothelial growth factor and glycolysis-related genes and angiopoietin receptors [76-80]. Cultured ECs exposed to low shear stress have increased surface expression of cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) [81-83], which permit the attachment of leukocytes. CAMS are also known to be induced under pro-inflammatory conditions [84-87] such as during atherosclerosis. *In vivo*, there is increased permeability at the endothelium, accumulation and oxidation of lipoproteins (LDL), expression of CAMs, and recruitment of monocytes [30, 88-91]. All these events promote the formation and progression of atherosclerosic lesions [31, 92-97].

- Monocytes

First, monocytes which are the circulating precursors of macrophages, begin rolling on the endothelial surface. They could have detrimental or beneficial functions, depending on their subsets that display heterogeneity in both mouse and human. In mouse Ly6C^{HI} (Gr1^{HI}CCR2+CX3CR1^{LO}) are considered as pro inflammatory monocytes subsets [98, 99]. In contrast, Ly6C^{LO} (Gr1^{LO}CCR2–CX3CR1^{HI}) monocytes are anti-inflammatory determined as a patrolling MC subset and are involved in tissue repair [100-103]. Pro inflammatory Ly6c^{high} monocytes in mice interact with P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 and endothelial P- and E-selectins [104-106]. Rolling is followed by firm adhesion, through vascular cell adhesion molecule–1 (VCAM-1) and intracellular cell adhesion molecules (ICAM-1), respectively [90, 107]. Next, they cross the endothelial barrier into the underlying intimal space under the influence of chemokines

such as monocytes chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1, also known as CCL2), CX3CL1, and CCL5 [108-111]. Monocytes make up most of the infiltrating cells and differentiate into macrophages within the atherosclerotic plaque. In the early stages of atherogenesis, oxLDL induces the expression of MCP-1 and CX3CL1 by vascular smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells. MCP-1 is found in the vessel wall where macrophage-rich areas bordering the lipid core, as well as in endothelial and VSMCs in human, mouse, and rabbit atherosclerotic lesions and promotes the transendothelial migration of CCR2-expressing monocytes [112]. It has been identified directly on foam cells and influences the growth of other cell types within the atherosclerotic lesion [113, 114]. CX3CL1 is the only known chemokine able to act both as a chemoattractant and as an efficient adhesion molecule through CX3CR1 G-protein-linked receptor [115, 116]. It is expressed on monocytes, natural killer cells, T cells, and smooth muscle cells, where it mediates migration, adhesion and proliferation [117]. Deletion of CX3CL1 in CCR2-deficient mice dramatically reduced the accumulation of macrophages in the arterial wall and the subsequent development of atherosclerosis [118]. CCL5 through interaction with its receptor CCR1, is also considered an early pathway leading to accumulation of rolling monocytes to stimulated endothelial cells. Also, CCL5 induces SMC proliferation and could have a role in the plaque stability [119]. Combined inhibition of CCL2, CX3CR1, and CCR5 in hypercholesterolemic, atherosclerosis-susceptible apolipoprotein E-deficient (ApoE) mice leads to abrogation of bone marrow monocytosis which are critical mediators of atherosclerosis onset, and to additive reduction in circulating monocytes despite persistent hypercholesterolemia [109].

- Macrophages

Macrophages are the major immune cells in atherosclerotic lesions. They are derived from myeloid progenitor cells in the bone marrow[120]. They have developed remarkable plasticity, notably, the ability to promote inflammation when needed and to turn the inflammatory response off when no longer needed[121]. In experimental systems, the classical inflammatory macrophage phenotype has been termed M1 and is often induced by incubating macrophages *in vitro* with a combination of interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and the toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) ligand, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a component of the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria. These stimuli initiate a strong inflammatory response, which includes production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as

interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), IL-12 and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), chemokines, such as MCP-1 (CCL2) to attract more monocytes, and inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)[122, 123]. The M2 phenotype is mainly induced by IL-4 and IL-13 cytokines, both of which are able to inhibit the M1 phenotype and prompt the macrophages to produce pro-resolving molecules, such as IL-10 and TGF- β . M2 macrophages are involved in tissue remodeling and repair [124]. Activated ECs release macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF), which promotes monocyte differentiation into macrophages [1, 98]. Macrophages uptake oxidised lipids and turn into foam cells (Fig. 3).

Recently, another macrophage subtype has been described in atherosclerotic lesions, called aorta intima resident macrophage (Mac^{AIR}). These macrophages infiltrate the artery around birth and arise from monocyte progenitors, thereafter adopting self-renewing capacity and expressing CD11c and MHC II. Mac^{AIR} were observed to accumulate lipid in nascent arteries and promote foam cell formation within the plaque [125]. These cells are thought to differentiate into the first foamy cells within in the arterial intima prior to the recruitment of monocytes. Prolonged hypercholesterolemia leads to the complete loss of the resident-derived foamy cells, as they are ultimately replaced entirely by recruited blood monocytes [126].

Macrophages are also recruited to the peritoneal cavity (PerC). There are 2 main subsets found in adult mice, based on their size and expression of F4/80 marker. Small peritoneal macrophages (SPM) and large peritoneal macrophages (LPM). Approximately 90% of PerC macrophages are LPMs, are long-lived and self- renewing population derived from the yolk sac progenitors under basal unstimulated conditions. They disappear rapidly from the PerC following LPS or thioglycolate stimulation. These cells express high levels of canonical macrophage surface markers, CD11b and F4/80 [127]. SPMs are short-lived and replenished from circulating monocytes infiltrating the peritoneum in inflammatory conditions. They express substantially lower levels of CD11b and F4/80 but high levels of MHC-II, which is not expressed on LPMs. SPM, which predominates in PerC after LPS or thioglycolate stimulation, does not derive from LPM. Both subsets show clear phagocytic activity and produce nitric oxide (NO) in response to LPS stimulation *in vivo* [103, 127-132].



Figure 3[98]. Atherosclerosis physiopathology. Increased levels of lipids in plasma and low shear stress causes endothelial damage, allowing LDL particles to migrate through the subendothelial space, after getting oxidized (OxLDL), they induce the recruitment of monocytes that acquire macrophage characteristics and phagocyte the cholesterol particles becoming foam cells (FC). High levels of intracellular OxLDL and cholesterol promote macrophage apoptosis and a release of proinflammatory cytokines, leading to the migration and differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells.

1.1.4.3 Cells involved in plaque progression

-T cells

T cells are critical drivers and modifiers of the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Naive CD4+ T helper (TH) cells are primed in secondary lymphoid organs. Antigen-presenting cells (APCs), such as macrophages and dendritic cells [133], take up and process oxidized LDL (oxLDL) in the plaque, migrate to the draining lymph node and present peptides from ApoB on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules [134]. Naive T cells recognize this complex through their specific T cell receptors (TCRs). Co-stimulatory molecules induce T cells to express transcription factors that favour the differentiation phenotype of effector T (Teff) cells

or regulatory T (Treg). Consequently, T cell recruitment to the atherosclerotic plaque occurs via chemokines and chemokine receptors such as CCR5, CXCR3 and CXCR6 [135, 136].

A large body of evidence indicates that T helper 1 (TH1) cells have pro-atherogenic effects, express T-box transcription factor TBX21 (T-bet) and secrete interferon-y (IFNy), IL-2, IL-3, tumour necrosis factor (TNF) and lymphotoxin, which can all activate macrophages, T cells, and other plaque cells and thereby accelerate the inflammatory response [137-139]. Deficiency of IFNy, or T-bet protects mice from atherosclerosis[135, 140, 141] and IFNy could directly reduce plaque stability by inhibiting vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) proliferation[142]. Also, TH1 can differentiate into Treg cells with anti-atherogenic roles. This subset is characterized by expression of the transcription factor forkhead box protein P3 (FOXP3) in mice. Treg cells protect against atherosclerosis by secreting high levels of IL (interleukin)-10, TGF (transforming growth factor)- β . IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine, whose deficiency increases atherosclerosis in atheroprone mice [143-145]; TGF\beta has plaque-stabilizing effects in mice by suppressing the proliferation of pro-inflammatory effector T cells [146, 147]. However, Treg cells can become pro-atherogenic by losing the expression of CD25 and FoxP3 induced due to high intracellular cholesterol levels or decreased IL-2 signaling [148, 149]. The roles in atherosclerosis of other TH cell subsets such as TH2, TH9, TH17, TH22, follicular helper T cells and CD28- T cells, as well as other T cell subsets including CD8+ T cells and $\gamma\delta T$ cells, are less well understood. Moreover, some T cells seem to have both pro- atherogenic and anti-atherogenic functions.

- Vascular smooth muscle cells

VSMCs are the main cell type in early arterial intimal thickenings and a major component of most stages of human atherosclerosis [150, 151]. The VSMCs are not terminally differentiated and can change their phenotype in response to environmental cues including growth factors/inhibitors mechanical influences, cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, extracellular lipids and lipoproteins, as well as various inflammatory mediators in the injured arterial wall [152, 153].

Normally, VSMCs proliferate and migrate at an extremely low rate. Contractile VSMCs within the atherosclerotic plaques are mainly localised at the fibrous cap and express VSMC-

specific genes, which include α -, γ -SMA (smooth muscle actin), calponin, SM22- α , smoothelin, and SM-MHC (smooth muscle myosin heavy chain)[154]. Macrophages clearing dead cells produce proresolving mediators, such as IL-10, TGF- β , and specialized proresolving lipid mediators (SPMs). These, in turn, cause VSMCs to differentiate and deposit ECM (extracellular matrix), this plays a beneficial role in plaque stabilization by forming the protective ECM-dense fibrous cap comprise mainly by laminins, polymerized collagen I, collagen III, collagen IV, small amounts of fibronectin, and elastin fibers [155-157].

While positive remodeling during atherosclerosis progression preserves vessel patency by expanding outwards, negative remodeling, which occurs once the vessel has expanded by >40%, occludes lumen diameter as atherosclerosis advances [158]. When the plaque progresses, VSMCs migrate from the media toward the intima where they proliferate and acquire a synthetic phenotype. They gradually lose the α -SMA, marker of VSMC lineage [159-161] and start expressing macrophage markers, such as CD68. The transition toward a synthetic phenotype result in a gradual shifting from a differentiated to a dedifferentiated state acquiring the ability to uptake lipids and to become VSMC-derived foam cells [162-164]. They contribute >50% of total plaque foam cells [165]. Lineage-tracing experiments in advanced atherosclerotic lesions demonstrated that SMCs make up a much larger part of lesioned foam cells than previously thought [166-168].

1.1.4.4 Plaque apoptosis and necrotic core

As the lesion matures and advances it becomes known as an atheroma and contains many dead cells and debris forming the necrotic core all of which is contained within an extensive ECM acting as a trap for all these cells [169]. Also, macrophage foam cell apoptosis due to ER stress from the lipids [170]. Plaque VSMCs number is reduced due to apoptosis causing less collagen secretion [169]. The large accumulation of dead cells remains in the plaque and are not cleared due to defective efferocytosis which leads to the necrotic core. Large necrotic cores are characteristic of an advanced plaque can cover over 25% of the lesion area [171].

Eventually, the growing mass of lipids and apoptotic cells overwhelms the macrophage phagocytic capacity. These dying cells swell and burst open, releasing stores cell debris and lipids, along with

pro-inflammatory cells [172-179]. A summary schema of the physiopathology is presented in Fig. 3 [98].

Other common features of advanced plaques include calcification; surface fissures and ulcers, which can release lipids from deep within the plaque; hematomas and hemorrhages; and thrombotic deposits [180-183]. The most dangerous outcome for atherosclerotic plaques is for them to rupture and release their pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic contents into the circulation. This forms a thrombus that can cut off circulation either at the site of the rupture or in smaller downstream arteries, such as the coronary arteries supplying the myocardium or the cerebral microvasculature, resulting in tissue death [1, 183]. Vulnerable plaques tend to have a large necrotic core, high macrophage content, and a thin fibrous cap with reduced collagen and SMC content [181, 184-186]. Plaques are most fragile at the edges [187, 188] and particularly on the upstream side, a region of high shear stress. This suggests that while low shear stress plays a pivotal role in the initial lesion formation, high shear stress promotes plaque rupture [189-191]. Indeed, high shear stress upregulates matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), which degrade the fibrous cap [192]. Interestingly, the pro-inflammatory milieu also stimulates the release of MMPs by macrophages [193].

1.2 Atherosclerosis and gut microbiota

1.2.1 Microbiota

The human body is colonized by a variety of microorganisms collectively referred as microbiota. Approximately 100 trillion cells and only 10 trillion are human cells while 90 trillion are microbes [194]. The indigenous microbiota is composed of archaea, bacteria, viruses, protozoa and fungi [195], which form a network with many interactions. The genes of these microorganisms form our metagenome, known as our second genome. The humans have approximately 3 million microbial genes (150 times more genes than the human genome) encoding various types of proteins that play a critical role in essential physiological processes, such as immune system maturation, food digestion, drug metabolism, detoxification, vitamin production, and prevention of pathogenic bacteria adhesion [196, 197]. Gut microbiota is a complex community of microorganisms that live in the digestive tract. In people, the gut microbiota has the biggest quantities of microorganisms, and the greatest number of species compared to other parts of the

body. The human gastrointestinal tract is known to host trillions of microbes, the number of which reaches approximately 10¹⁴ cells in the entire gut of a healthy individual [198]. The relation between the gut microbiota and human health is being increasingly recognised because studies have shown that a healthy gut flora is largely responsible for overall health of the host [199]. Colonization of the gastrointestinal tract begins after birth. It is known that colonization initiates from maternally acquired bacteria during birth [200] and breastfeeding and continues throughout our life [201-203]. Most of the bacteria in the gut are anaerobes (99%)[204].

Over the lifetime of the individual, or at least until stabilization of colonizing microbiota in adulthood, there is a change in the profile of the predominant phyla in the gastrointestinal tract, migrating from a community dominated by Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria to one dominated by Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes [205, 206]. Some studies have described that the gut microbiota of obese animals and humans exhibits a higher Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio compared with normal-weight individuals [207, 208]. For example, children living in rural African areas, who consumed a traditional diet rich in fiber and showed higher proportions of Bacteroidetes and lower of Firmicutes, compared to children from western countries whose diet included large amounts of protein, fat, sugar, and starch [209] proposing this ratio as health biomarker [210].

1.2.2 Metabolism of gut microbiota

The microbiota is responsible for metabolizing dietary elements into bioactive food components. Gut bacteria could metabolize indigestible carbohydrates such as cellulose, hemicelluloses, resistant starch, pectin, oligosaccharides, and lignin into SCFAs composed of acetic, propionic and butyric acids [211, 212]. These metabolic products are mainly produced by Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes and some anaerobic gut microorganisms [213]. The microbiota also exhibit beneficial effects on the host organism, in terms of helping vitamin synthesis such as biotin, thiamine, cobalamin, riboflavin, nicotine and pantothenic acids, vitamin B and K [214]. Carbohydrates, branched chain amino acids, amines, phenols, indoles and phenylacetic acid as well as bile acids, cholesterol and conjugated fatty acids are also generated through the action of gut microbiota [215] [216]. Furthermore, it has been reported that gut microbiota has the capacity to synthesize some neurochemicals that can affect the central nervous and peripheral enteric systems, such as serotonin and GABA [217, 218].

1.2.3 Gut microbiota and diseases

Gut microbiota have been associated with a large array of human diseases such as inflammatory and irritable bowel diseases [206, 219, 220]. In the inflammatory bowel disease, a direct relationship between the diet and microorganisms has been demonstrated. Irritable bowel syndrome is caused by increased short chain fatty acids (SCFAs), that enhances the release of serotonin from the intestinal mucosa increasing intestinal transit [219, 220] and gut microbial dysbiosis [221]. In addition, gut microbiota has been involved in metabolic diseases such as obesity and diabetes [222], allergic diseases [223] and neurodevelopmental illnesses [224]. Interestingly, gut microbiota has been shown to influence atherosclerosis.

1.2.3.1 Bacterial infections and atherosclerosis

The presence of bacterial DNA such as C. pneumoniae, Firmicutes and Proteobacteria phyla in human atherosclerotic plaques has been demonstrated. However, whether an infection initiates or augments development of plaques is uncertain and the correlation between plaque morphology and bacterial content is still under investigation [225]. In animal models, microorganisms such as A. actino mycetemcomitans, C. pneumoniae, H. pylori, and P. gingivalis might contribute to atherosclerosis by increasing lesion areas [226]. In addition to infections and bacteria in atherosclerotic plaques, the gut microbiota also influences CVD through the regulation of host metabolism, including cholesterol and lipid metabolism. Indeed, gut microbiota is now thought to have a pivotal role in low-grade inflammatory metabolic diseases such as obesity and diabetes [227-229] which are associated with CVD [230].

1.2.3.2 Gut microbiota, inflammation and atherosclerosis

Studies in rodents and humans showed that chronic consumption of HFD leads to intestinal barrier defects that facilitate the passage of intestinal luminal contents (food antigen, bacterial products, bacteria), and bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) into systemic circulation. LPS, also known as endotoxin, is structural compounds in the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria [228, 231]. LPS induces inflammation through activation of its receptor, TLR4, which is expressed on immune cells such as macrophages as well as on many other cell types including

hepatocytes and adipocytes. The intestinal epithelium works as a barrier to prevent translocation of bacterially derived factors. However, weight gain, HFD [232] and increased exposure of fatty acids [233, 234] may disrupt the gut barrier permeability allowing leakage of LPS [228]. This condition leads to metabolic endotoxemia [235], such as dyslipidemia, insulin resistance, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and CVD [236]. Mice lacking the TLR4 co-receptor CD14 are resistant to hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance and steatosis induced by a HFD or LPS [228]. The capacity of HDL to bind LPS may protect against inflammation. Indeed, infusion of HDL prior to a LPS challenge reduced release of proinflammatory cytokines in humans [237]. LPS has been reported to promote atherosclerosis by inducing pro inflammatory cytokines in different experimental models [238-240] . Stimulation with LPS leads to the recruitment of adaptor proteins such as myeloid differentiation primary response protein MYD88 to the cytoplasmic domain of TLRs. The recruitment of adaptor proteins triggers downstream signaling cascades that lead to production of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines [241, 242].

1.2.3.3 Diet, microbiota metabolites and atherosclerosis

Western diet is characterized by high intakes of refined sugars (candies and sweets, and high-sugar soft drinks), animal fats (high intake of saturated and omega-6 fatty acids, reduced omega-3 fat intake), processed meats (red meat), refined grains, high-fat dairy products, conventionally-raised animal products, salt, eggs, potatoes, corn, mainly processed, refined, fried, and pre-packaged, with low intakes of unprocessed fruits, vegetables, whole grains, grass-fed animal products, fish, nuts, and seeds. Hence, it is low in fiber, vitamins, minerals, and other plant-



Figure 4. Gut microbiota metabolites.

derived molecules such as antioxidants [243-245].

Gut microbiota has been shown to differ between mice fed with a high or low fat diets and between diets containing equal amounts of fat but from different sources [235, 246, 247]. The influence of gut microbiota on host lipid metabolism may be mediated through metabolites produced by the gut microbiota such as SCFA, secondary bile acids and trimethylamine. Figure 4 [248] shows some systemic functions of gut microbiota metabolites.

- SCFA

SCFAs such as acetate, propionate and butyrate are bacterial metabolites derived from fermentation of fibers in the colon. SCFAs are important for host metabolism and are used as substrates for energy production, lipogenesis, gluconeogenesis and cholesterol synthesis [249, 250]. Butyrate is an energy source for colonocytes while propionate is mainly metabolized by the liver [251, 252].

In addition to being metabolic substrates, SCFAs have been shown to have a positive impact on metabolic health [253]. They act as signaling molecules, notably through the G-protein coupled receptors GPR43/FFAR2 that protect against diet-induced obesity in mice and GPR41/FFAR3. GPR43 [254-257]. Activation of GPR43 on L-cells , which are located along the length of the intestinal epithelium, make contact with the gut lumen via apical processes and are believed to respond directly to luminal signals [258], increases secretion of glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) [254, 259] and acetate induces anti-lipolytic activity [260] and improves glucose and lipid metabolism [255] through GPR43 in white adipose tissue. GRP41 has also been shown to regulate metabolism through interaction with the gut microbiota. Conventionally raised Gpr41 knockout mice are leaner and weigh less than their wild-type littermates, while these differences are not found in germ free mice. Furthermore, the microbiota increases peptide YY (PYY) production through GPR41 [261]. Supplementation with acetate re- duces weight gain and improves glucose tolerance in obese and diabetic rats [262], butyrate protects against obesity and increases thermogenesis in mice [263] and propionate or butyrate improves glucose homeostasis in mice [264].

- Bile acids

Bile acids are others gut microbiota-derived metabolites involved in various metabolic diseases [265]. Primary bile acids are synthesized from cholesterol and conjugated to taurine or glycine in the liver. They are stored in gallbladder and excreted into the duodenum after food ingestion to aid emulsification of dietary lipids. Most bile acids are reabsorbed and recirculated to

the liver, but Intestinal anaerobes mediate a deconjugation of the glycine or taurine group catalyzed by bile salt hydrolases (BSH) reduces reabsorption [266, 267]. Deconjugated bile acids can be further metabolized to secondary bile acids through dehydrogenation, dihydroxylation and epimerization by colonic bacteria [266]. These secondary bile acids are highly insoluble and toxic and are mostly excreted in the feces and As a result, to replace the amount lost, roughly 0.5 grams per day is synthesized from cholesterol in the liver [267]. Suppression of hepatic bile acid biosynthesis may also inhibit HFD-induced gut microbiome alterations. Feeding mice with bile acids under a normal diet induced an obese phenotype, showing the presence of the liver–bile acid– gut microbiome metabolic axis [268]. Recently, the bidirectional relationship between gut microbiota and bile acid metabolism [269] in CVD has been reviewed [270]. Bile acids can accelerate atherosclerosis development through bile-salt hydrolase activity and bile acid receptors [271, 272]. Bacteria-mediated bile salt hydrolase activity can promote atherosclerotic progression by stimulating cholesterol accumulation, foam cell formation, and increasing the atherosclerotic plaque size [273-276].

The microbiota-derived secondary bile acids play essential roles in atherosclerosis development by modulating various bile acid receptors such as farnesoid X receptor (FXR), pregnane X receptor (PXR), and vitamin D receptor (VDR), as well as membrane receptors Takeda G protein receptor 5 (TGR5) and sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 2 (S1PR2) [277].–TGR5 expressed in macrophages is an important bile acid receptor of the host that mediates the systemic effects of bile acids [278]. Its activation can inhibit atherosclerosis development by reducing macrophage-mediated inflammation and lipid loading [279].

- Trimethylamine

Gut microbiota metabolizes methylamine-containing nutrients such as choline, lecithin and L-carnitine, contained in many foods, mainly in red meats, such as beef and lamb [280], to generate trimethylamine (TMA), which is further processed to trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) by flavin monooxygenases (FMO) in the liver [281] (Figure 5 [282]). TMAO levels have been correlated with atherosclerosis, with risk of cardiovascular events, and with prevalence of cardiovascular disease [283, 284]. Plasma TMAO levels in different mouse strains have been positively correlated

with lesion size [285] and transfer of microbiota from high and low TMAO producing mice to atherosclerosis prone ApoE-/- mice showed increased microbial capacity for TMA production and aortic lesions [286]. FMO3 is the primary enzyme converting TMA into TMAO. Knockdown of FMO3 results in reduced atherosclerotic lesion areas, altered lipid and cholesterol metabolism, and decreased TMAO plasma levels [287, 288]. FMO3 expression is regulated by bile acids by a

mechanism that involves FXR mentioned before [289]. Gut microbiota processing of bile acids could therefore be an alternative mechanism by which the gut microbiota regulates TMAO production. The disturbance of the biosynthesis of short chain fatty acids causes many pathological consequences for the host [290].



The mechanisms by which TMAO contributes to atherosclerosis appears to be complex and not fully

Figure 5. Production of trimethylamine-N-oxide (TMAO).

understood. Antibiotic treatment reduces production of TMA and has been shown to suppress foam cell formation [281]. TMAO can also contribute to atherosclerosis by inhibiting reverse cholesterol transport increasing cell surface expression of two proatherogenic scavenger receptors, cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36) and scavenger receptor A (SR-A) [283, 291-293] and by inducing atherosclerosis-promoting inflammatory protein kinase, extracellular signal-related kinase, and nuclear factor- κ B signaling cascade in vascular cells [294].

1.3 D-mannose

1.3.1 Diet sugars and physiopathology

Sugars are a common component of foods and beverages. Sugar- sweetened foods such as cakes, cookies, chocolate, ice creams, and drinks including soft drinks, energy drinks, fruit punches, lemonade, and iced tea are very popular in Western society [295]. A rise in the consumption of refined sugars in food and beverages has often been implicated in the epidemic of obesity, type 2 diabetes and CVDs. Monosaccharides are constituents of such widely abundant biomolecules as starch, cellulose, pectin and chitin. They are units of glycoprotein sugar chains

and other important glycoconjugates in bacteria and eukaryotic cells, and are also key components of DNA and RNA [296].

While most added sugars are consumed as sucrose (disaccharide) or glucose and fructose (monosaccharide constituents), it is the fructose fraction that is considered the more harmful sugar component, despite its classification as a low-glycemic sugar, [297]. A high glucose index has been associated with insulin resistance, cardiac remodeling or dysfunction, endothelial dysfunction of large and small arteries and atherosclerosis [298, 299]. Fructose supplementation to the diet of non-human primates for up to 1 year produced many features of the metabolic syndrome, including increased body weight, fat mass, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia with hypertriglyceridemia and decreased HDL cholesterol, and diabetes [300, 301]. A moderate increase in fructose consumption (75 g or 300 kcal per day) in men with obesity for 12 weeks increased body weight, liver fat, hepatic de novo lipogenesis, atherogenic dyslipidemia, and indices of insulin resistance [302-304]. D-mannose (hereafter referred to as mannose) is a natural C-2 epimer of glucose, is a monosaccharide approximately a hundred times less abundant than glucose in human blood [305]. Free mannose is found in small amounts in many fruits such as oranges, apples and peaches [306]. Physiological mannose concentration in human blood is ~50 μ M, and it does not contribute significantly to cell bioenergetics [307].

Mannose supplementation, at safe supraphysiological doses up to 0.2 grams mannose/kg body weight, was shown to help in some human diseases such as carbohydrate-deficient glycoprotein syndrome type I [308]. It is also therapeutically effective as a non-antibiotic treatment for recurrent urinary tract infections in humans, by preventing adhesion of enteric bacteria to uroepithelial cells. Mannose can affect bacteria by combining with FimH protein, which is the type 1 pilus adhesin of Escherichia coli [309-311]. Dietary mannose is used to treat glycosylation deficient patients with mutations in phosphomannose isomerase [312]. In addition, mannose is used for N- and O-glycosylation, C-mannosylation and GPI anchor synthesis [307].

1.3.2 Metabolism of mannose

Mannose is transported into mammalian cells by diffusion via hexose transporters of the SLC2A group (GLUT) present primarily on the plasma membrane. No mannose-specific or -

preferential transporters have been found among the 14 distinct GLUT transporters in humans [313]. Within the cell, mannose is phosphorylated by hexokinase (HK) to produce mannose-6-phosphate (Man-6-P), which serves as a common substrate for three competing enzymes. Man-6-P is either catabolized by phosphomannose isomerase (MPI) 95–98% [314, 315] or directed into N-glycosylation via phosphomannomutase (PMM2). Another minor pathway utilizes mannose for synthesis of 2-keto-3deoxy-D-glycero-D-galacto-nononic acid (KDN), a



Figure 6. Mannose metabolism.

sialic-acid related molecule found in fish and mammals [316] (Figure 6 [307]). The fate of Man-6-P largely depends on the ratio of MPI to PMM2 within a cell [315] - higher ratio leads to greater catabolism, while lower ratio favors the glycosylation pathway. However, the regulation of this ratio does not seem to be cell specific, but in some patients with PMM2-congenital disorder of glycosylation, an alteration of some immune cell populations, such as an increase of neutrophils, and natural killer cells has been described [317, 318]. PMM2-derived mannose-1-phosphate (Man-1-P) is then incorporated into several glycosylation intermediates including GDP-mannose (GDP-Man), GDP-fucose, and dolichol phosphate mannose (Dol-P-Man). These intermediates then contribute to N-glycosylation, O- glycosylation, C-mannosylation, and GPI anchor synthesis [307].

1.3.3 Mannose and inflammation

Mannose exhibits strong anti-inflammatory properties in different studies. Oral administration of mannose in mice is effective in decreasing *in vivo* growth of multiple tumor types and in potentiating the effects of cytotoxic chemotherapies, by accumulation of mannose-6-phosphate within cells. Furthermore, *in vitro* studies have shown that mannose induces tumor cell

death by apoptosis, through disruption of Bax and Bak mitochondrial proteins in combination with some chemotherapeutic drugs [319, 320].

The anti-inflammatory properties of mannose are also through regulation of immune cells. Mannose was demonstrated to affect T cell function by promoting generation of regulatory Foxp3+ T cells from naive CD4+ T lymphocytes and downregulates effector T cell activation [321, 322]. It also suppresses T cell-mediated immunopathologies in mice such as osteroporosis, lupus, autoimmune diabetes and airway inflammation, by promoting activation of the latent form of TGF- β [323, 324].

Importantly, mannose reduces LPS-induced macrophage activation by impairing IL-1ß gene expression[305]. Mannose has been shown to decrease the number and activation of proinflammatory myeloid cells infiltrating the colon in a dextran sulfate sodium-mouse model, by impairing glucose metabolism and raising intracellular mannose-6-phosphate levels. [325-328] In addition, mannose inhibits wound inflammation by reducing the number of neutrophils and by inhibiting the synthesis of hyaluronic acid [329].

1.3.4 Mannose and gut microbiota

A relationship between mannose and gut microbiota composition was recently reported. Indeed mannose is able to reconstruct the gut microbiota and to change metabolite composition [321]. Freeze and his team were studying mannose in the context of a rare disease called a congenital disorder of glycosylation (CDG). People with a specific form of the disease can be treated with mannose. While conducting their research, the scientists observed the anti-obesity effects of mannose feeding [330].

A closer look by Sharma and coauthors revealed that C57BL/6 mice were also protected from typical negative effects of a fatty diet. They had less body fat, reduced fat in their liver, stable blood sugar and even improved fitness. Surprisingly, these benefits were only seen when the mice received mannose early in life; older mice didn't benefit from mannose [331-333]. The protective effect of mannose on HFD-induced obesity is explained by an increase of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes ratio in the gut. In the same line other studies reported the same changes in this ratio

in the intestines of obese mice or humans [331-333]. Another explanation could be that mannose also converts complex glycans to monosaccharides, inhibits glycosyl hydrolases leading to a higher fecal energy (fuel value expressed in KJ/gram) [334].

2. Hypothesis

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease influenced by gut microbiota. Dmannose has anti-inflammatory properties and induces changes in gut microbiota preventing the deleterious effects of high cholesterol diet.

We hypothesize that oral D-mannose supplementation to high fat diet protects against atherosclerosis development through regulation of gut microbiota composition and inflammation.

Research aims

- Aim 1: Determine the effects of mannose supplementation on atherosclerotic plaque size and composition

- Aim 2: Determine the effects of mannose supplementation on gut flora diversity.

- Aim 3: Determine the effects of mannose supplementation in plasma, peritoneal cavity and bone marrow cells.

3. Methods

3.1 Mouse handling, high fat regimen and mannose supplementation.

ApoE-/- mice of the C57BL/6 strain were obtained from The Jackson Laboratory and bred in the animal facility at the Lady Davis Institute. All personnel involved in handling animals and performing experiments have completed the necessary training modules required by the McGill University Animal Care Committee. Furthermore, all experiments and methods of handling conform to the guidelines set forth by the Animal Care Committee as well as to the protocol of the present research project. Eight weeks old male and female mice were given a HFD (15% cocoa butter fat, 0.5% cholesterol). Baseline body weight was measured and mice were divided in two groups according to the route of mannose administration.

1. 0 (Ctl), 5, or 20% of mannose was supplemented orally in drinking water for 4 or 9 weeks (n=18-28).

2. 5g/kg mannose/PBS were injected intraperitoneally (IP) for 9 weeks-5 times a week (n=8-9).

Body weights, drink and food intake were monitored throughout the experimental period. After 9 weeks of treatment mice were anesthetized by isoflurane and then euthanized by CO² asphyxiation followed by cervical dislocation. Body weight was recorded, and cardiac puncture was performed to collect 0.5ml of whole blood in EDTA-coated tubes (Sarstedt, Numbrecht, Germany) and centrifuged at 2,000 rpm at 4 °C for 20 min to collect the plasma. PerC cells were obtained (see below). To obtain peripheric monocytes, lymphocytes and granulocytes, blood cell enumeration was performed with a hematology analyzer (scil Vet abc).

The peritoneal cavity was opened, and small intestine (duodenum, jejunum and ileum) was collected. Next, the thoracic cage was opened, and the heart was flushed with PBS to rinse the vasculature. Common sites for atherosclerotic plaques such as, the aortic sinus, the brachiocephalic artery (BCA) and the ascending aorta, were dissected [335] (Fig. 7 [336, 337])



Figure 7. Aortic sinus [336] and brachiocephalic artery [337] anatomic locations for collection.

After removing other overlying tissues from the exposed thoracic cavity (e.g. lungs, thymus, adipose tissue, vena cava), the BCA and the aortic sinus were collected to evaluate atherosclerotic plaque size (Oil red O staining) and composition in macrophages, smooth muscle cells (immunocytochemistry) and collagen (Pico Sirius Red and Masson's trichrome staining).

Aortic sinus, BCA and pieces of small intestine were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 24 hours before being placed into 30% sucrose solution at 4 °C for 24 hours to prevent the formation of structurally disruptive water crystals. tissues were then embedded in OCT gel.

3.2 Plasma lipids, mannose and LPS

To measure plasma lipids: Cholesterol Assay Kit ab65390 was used, which is a quantitative colorimetric/fluorometric method to quantify total cholesterol, free cholesterol, and cholesterol esters in mammalian samples. To measure plasma mannose: Mouse mannose (MN) ELISA Kit was used, which is an in-vitro enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the quantitative measurement of mouse mannose receptor.

To measure LPS levels: Pierce[™] Chromogenic Endotoxin Quant Kit was used measured. It is an end-point chromogenic endotoxin detection assay based on the amebocyte lysate method, which measures endotoxin through the interaction of the endotoxin with the proenzyme Factor C found in circulating amebocytes of the horseshoe crab.

3.3 Gut microbiota composition

To analyze gut microbiota composition, mice stools were collected at days 0 and 60 of treatments. Mice were placed in previously sterilised glass beakers, the stools were collected immediately and stored at -80°C. DNA was extracted and 16S ribosomal RNA gene sequencing was performed by McGill genome Centre. This technique utilizes PCR to target and amplify portions of the hypervariable regions (V1-V9) of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene. PCR amplicons from up to hundreds of samples are then combined and sequenced on a single run. The raw data showed the quantity of bacteria found in each sample which was organized according to the 5 most popular phyla. Data and graph were worked in excel.

3.4 Cryosectioning and tissue staining

OCT-embedded aortic sinus, BCA and intestine samples were serially sectioned into 7 μ m slices at -23°C at tissue depths corresponding to the consistent location of plaques. Several microscope slides were collected from each sample to stain for different markers. Slides were stored at -80°C until the day of staining and were allowed to thaw at room temperature for 30 min before proceeding. To appreciate the intestinal macrophages jejunum slides were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin in PBS for 30 min followed by immunofluorescence staining with F4/80 which is a general marker for macrophages [128] and DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole) which is a blue-fluorescent DNA stain to visualize cell nuclei by fluorescence microscopy.

To quantify plaque size, aortic sinus and BCA sections were stained for 45 min in OilRedO to colorize lipids. Representative light microscope pictures were taken and analyzed by ImageJ, using the polygon selection tool to contour the plaques. Plaque areas were measured in mm² using Image J. For each sample, several sections plaque areas were averaged.

To quantify plaque contents, slides were blocked with 5% BSA for 30 min followed by immunofluorescence staining with antibodies targeting α -SMA for the expression of alpha smooth muscle actin cells [338] and CD68 [339] for macrophages and other mononuclear phagocytes. Images were taken with a fluorescent microscope. For appreciating the necrotic cores, sinuses were dyed with Masson's Trichrome stain which is a method used for the detection of collagen fibers and in atherosclerosis we used it to appreciate the necrotic cores (NC)[340]. In ImageJ, threshold
analysis was performed on the contoured plaque areas to obtain a percentage of signal positive area. Once again, these were averaged into a single value per sample. To obtain the plaque stability index α -SMA average value was divided per the NC average value, as seen in thew next formula: Plaque stability index= % α -SMA/%NC.

3.5 Extraction of primary bone marrow cells

Six- to eight-weeks-old C57BL/6 mice were anesthetized by isoflurane and then euthanized by CO2 asphyxiation followed by cervical dislocation. Both legs were detached from the pelvis and stripped of their muscle. Under a cell culture hood, the femurs and tibias were cut at both ends and flushed with DMEM + 10% FBS + 1% P/S (using syringes) to collect the bone marrow (BM) cells. They were centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 5 min. The supernatant was aspirated, and the remaining cell pellet was resuspended in FACS buffer (2% FBS) ready for flow cytometry or frozen.

3.6 Peritoneal macrophage cells extraction

To observe peritoneal cell recruitment, we realized two variations of the treatment length. The first mice on HFD received mannose 0 (Ctr), 5 or 20% for nine weeks and euthanized. The second group on HFD and mannose 0 (Ctr), or 20% for 4 weeks, received a 1.5 ml peritoneal prewarmed injection of aged 4% thioglycolate. Four days later, mice were euthanized, and macrophages were collected by exposing the peritoneal cavity and injecting and re-aspirating 10 ml of 2% FBS in PBS, taking care not to puncture organs to avoid erythrocyte contamination. Cells were centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 5 min, re-suspended, and counted before proceeding with experiments.

3.7 Western blot

Tight junctions TLR-4, claudin-1 and occludin were measured by western blot. Protein was extracted using a commercial kit. All samples were dosed on the day of the Western blot. Depending on the expected band sizes, samples were run on 8, 10, or 15% polyacrylamide gels and then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. After rinsing in tris-buffered saline with Tween 20 (TBST), membranes were blocked in 5% skim milk in TBST, followed by the addition of primary antibody in milk. Membranes were again washed in TBST and incubated with secondary

antibody in milk. After washing, membranes were covered with an enhanced chemiluminescence solution for 5 min in the dark, inserted into a plastic sleeve, and exposed with a chemiluminescent imaging machine. If required, blotted antibodies were removed with a stripping agent and the membrane was re-blocked and re-blotted with a new primary antibody. Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) or b-actin was blotted as a loading control. All rinsing, blocking, and antibody steps were performed on a rocking platform.

3.8 Flow cytometry

For flow cytometry, 1×10^6 cells were stained with a live/dead marker, blocked with Fc receptor, and stained with antibodies targeting surface markers according to the 4 different panels, see complete antibody information in Fig 8.

- Blood panel: CD11b, CD115, Ly6G, Ly6C, CCR2, CX3CR1, CD206.
- PeriC panel: CD45, CD38, F4/80, CD115, CD206, Ly6G, CD68.
- Bone Marrow panel: CD11b, CD34, Ly6C, Ly6G, Sca1, c-Kit, CD16/32, CD3, CD19, B220, CD161/NK1.1 and Tor119.
- Lamina propia: TLR4, CX3CR1, CCR2, CD64, F4/80, CD206, CD11c, Ly6C, Ly6G, CD45, MHCII.

Fluorescence minus one control was used to determine fluorescence background and positivity. Data analysis was performed using FlowJo software. Gating was first performed on forward versus side scatter to remove cell debris and doublets before selection of live cells based on exclusion of a viability dye, 7-aminoactinomycin D (BioLegend), or Aqua (BD Biosciences).

In blood, cells were selected based on their CD11b marker expression and Ly6G to differentiate from granulocytes. Different subtypes were detected based on their differential expression of markers. Ly6C+CD115± for monocytes (Supplemental fig.A). In the bone marrow cells were selected from Ly6C+ as described above to detect monocytes. After from live CD3-CD19-B220-CD161/NK1.1-Ter119- cells were selected. Among the rest of the cells c-Kit+Sca1-was selected for gating progenitor cells (Supplemental fig.B). In the PerC cells were selected based on their CD45+ and Ly6G- to differentiate from granulocytes. Among cells, F4/80 was used for macrophages (Supplemental fig.C). Samples were centrifuged at 1,500 rpm at 4 °C for 5 min

between each step (except between blocking and antibody steps), and all steps up until intracellular blocking and antibody were done on ice (the latter portion was done at room temperature). Proportions of immune cell subtypes such as monocytes, macrophages, granulocytes and T cells were measured in the blood, the peritoneal cavity and the bone marrow by flow cytometry.

3.9 Statistical methods

In vivo data are presented as mean \pm standard error of mean. Given the variability between experimental runs for *in vitro* experiments, these values are presented as a ratio of the experimental condition over the control or vehicle condition to allow pooling of results across different samples and experiment days. Within each experiment, outlier testing was done using the ROUT method (in Prism 6 software). An unpaired, two-tailed T-test was used for experiments with exactly two conditions, whereas a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for experiments with more than two conditions. In both cases, the threshold of statistical significance was chosen to be p < 0.05. For statistically significantly results by one-way ANOVA, Tukey's honestly significantly different, again at a threshold of p < 0.05.

Manufacturer	Host + conjugate	Biological target	Concentrations (Stock)	Clone
Invitrogen 48- 0112-82	Rat eFluorTM 450 (Pacific blue)	Mouse, Human CD11b	0.2 mg/mL	M1/70
BioLegend (135531)	Rat APC/Cy7 conjugated	Mouse CD115	0.2 mg/ml	AFS98
Invitrogen 17-5932-80	Rat APC	Mouse Ly6C	0.2 mg/mL	HK1.4
BD Pharmigen 561105	Rat FITC	Mouse Ly6G	0.5mg/ml	1A8
Biolegend 150659	Rat PE	MouseCCR2	0.2mg/ml	SA203G11
Biolegend 149035	Mouse Alexa Fluor 700	Mouse CX3CR1	0.5mg/ml	SA011F11
Biolegend 141711	Rat Alexa Fluor 647 (PE)	CD206	0.5mg/ml	C068C2
Invitrogen 56-0451-82	Rat Alexa Fluor 700	CD45	0.2 mg/mL	30-F11
Biolegend 102732	Rat Brilliant Violet 421	CD38	0.2 mg/ml	90
Invitrogen 12-4801-82	Rat PE	F4/80	0.2 mg/ml	BM8
Biolegend 137008	Rat APC	CD68	0.2 mg/ml	FA-11
Biolegend 101229	Rat PerCP/Cyanide5.5	CD11b	0.2 mg/ml	M1/70
R&D systems FAB6518N- 100UG	Rat Monoclonal	CD34	0.2 mg/ml	700011
Biolegend 108127	Rat Brillian Violet 421	Scal	50ug/ml	D7
Biolegend 105847	Rat Brillian Violet 605	c-Kit	0.2 mg/ml	2B8
Biolegend 101327	Rat APC Cyanine7	CD16/32	0.2 mg/ml	93
Biolegend	Rat	CD3	0.2 mg/ml	17A2

100205	PE			
eBioscience	Rat	CD19	0.2mg/ml	eBio1D3
12-0193-82	PE			
Biolegend	Rat	CD45R/B220	0.2 mg/ml	RA3-6B2
103207	PE			
Biolegend	Mouse	NK-1.1	0.2 mg/ml	PK136
108707	PE			
Biolegend	Rat	TER-119	0.2 mg/ml	TER-119
116207	PE			
BD Bioscience	Rat	TLR4	0.2 mg/ml	MTS510
740812	BV711			
Biolegends	Mouse	CX3CR1	0.2 mg/ml	SA011F11
149023	Brilliant violet			
	421			
BD Bioscience	Mouse	CD64	0.2 mg/ml	X54-5/7.1
740622	BV650			
BD Bioscience	Rat	F4/80	0.2 mg/ml	T45-2342
749283	BUV737			
Biolegend	Hamster	CD11C	50um/m1	N418
117333	BV605			
Biolegend	Rat	Ly6C	0.2 mg/ml	HK1.4
128017	PE Cyanine7			
BD Bioscience	Rat	CD45	0.2 mg/ml	30-F11
564279	BUV395			
BD Bioscience	Rat BB700	MHCII	0.2 mg/ml	M5/114.15.2

Figure 8. Table of antibodies used for flow cytometry.

4. Results

4.1 Oral mannose supplementation did not change HFD-induced body weight increase and plasma lipids and increased plasma mannose levels.

ApoE^{-/-} mice received a HFD supplemented orally with mannose 0% (Ctr), 5% and 20% for 9 weeks. No difference was observed in body weight at the end of the treatment, plasma LDL and total cholesterol (Fig.9A-C). Plasma mannose increased in mice supplemented with 5%. Surprisingly, we found no significant increase in 20% mice compared with Ctr (Fig.9D). HFD and drink intake were measured at mid treatment for 1 week. The 20% mannose-treated mice drink intake (ml/week/mouse) was diminished compared with Ctr (Fig.9E). However, HFD food intake was equivalent between groups (Fig.9F).



Figure 9. Animal parameters of ApoE^{-/-} mice treated with HFD supplemented orally with 0 (Ctr), 5 or 20% mannose for 9 weeks. (A) Body weight (grams). (B) Plasma LDL levels (μ g/ μ l). (C) Plasma total cholesterol levels (μ g/ μ l). (D) Plasma mannose levels (ng/ml). (E) Drink intake (ml/week/mouse). (F) Food intake HFD food intake (gram/week/mouse). *P<0.05, n=2-28. Data are mean ± SEM (standard error of the mean).

4.2 Oral mannose supplementation prevented HFD-induced increase of F/B ratio.

First, we investigated whether mannose regulated gut microbiota. ApoE^{-/-} mice received a chow or a HFD orally supplemented with mannose 20% for 9 weeks. 16S DNA sequencing on feces showed as expected two main populations of bacteria the Firmicutes and Bacteriodetes, and small amounts of Actinobacteriota and Verrucomicrobiota (Fig.10A). The Firmicutes/Bacteriodetes ratio was significantly increased in mice fed a HFD (HFD Ctr) (4.8 ± 0.9) compared with Chow diet (Chow Ctr) (1.7 ± 0.3). This increase was prevented in mice fed a HFD supplemented with 20% mannose (HFD + 20% mannose)(2.8 ± 0.4) (Fig.10B).



B. Firmicutes/Bacteriodetes Ratio



Figure 10. Fecal DNA P16S sequencing of ApoE -/- mice upon 9 weeks of chow diet (Chow Ctr), HFD (HFD Ctr) or HFD+mannose 20%. (A) Graph representing the distribution of different gut

fic gut microbiome in the cecum at baseline

gut microbiome in the cecum at base increpresenting Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio. **P<0.01, n=7-8. Data are present in the cecum of RB females versus RB males at baseline present in the cecum of RB females versus RB males at baseline . RB female > RB Male at baseline

present in the recume

- Female > RB Male at baseline Highest relative abundance - RB Male > RB Female at baseline A. municiniphila
 - tion reduced Enterocloster sp Enterocloster sp Enterocloster sp A. municidina i and i and a mannose supplem

L. pacarnintestine and prevente

ncrease devulgatis

³ vugalisoides on gut microbiota composition was related to gut

intestine (Fig.11A). Interestingly, flow cytometry

resident the state of the second state of the state of the second state of the second

en

ia d

\$%

ated

she

page

jgp

FCS

- B. acidifacienciale To determine 5.5 nterestanteristrospatory stat
- Desulfovibrio sp L. glyfiumber of F4/80 e.^{11.6}

21 3

effuvii effuvii effuvii effuvii a sp Bautia sp C. scinglacarnse pagening propia of the small intestine, the receptor 1LR-414.8

19.4

autia stof LPS on F4/80+ macrophages in 5 (1.) where the average ASV reads of (RB temale -2087 sp2.1±0.4) supplemented mannose mice as 100° and (RB male - RB of bacteria

		A nta nice
	CELLOBIOSE (β -D-galactopyrannosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)-D-glucopyranose)	s (6
	i) Sugars: D-galactopyranose ; D-glucopyranose	
	ii) Sugar configurations: beta	
-4]Glc _p	iii) Reducing : Glc _p	
	iv) Non-reducing: Gala	
	A. Intestinal macrophages	onį

n a sugar chemical structure, be able to identify the:

Two sugars i) The reducing sugar ii) The non-reducing sugar v) Carbon atoms linkage of the glycosidic bond Anomeric linkage of the glycosidic bond

ucing sugar (one of the ring can open at C1):

- altose: from malt sugar (enzymatic degradation product from starch), mild sweetness Corn syrup is a mix of Glc, maltose and maltose based oligosaccharides
- omaltose: digested fragment from amylopectin, its alpha[1-6] bond is a sigma bond and is quite flexible 20do bond rotations
- ctose: more resigtant than sucrose to acid hybrolysis, hydrôlysis gives eaual D-Glc and D-Gh amounts
- Å reducing sugar (rings can NOT open): icrose: from cane sugat fra glycosidic lir easivehedeolyse bond drolysis gives equal D-G ahlv /er erature range suitable for oking (as it is highly soluble due to lots of OH hydroxy groups to interact with water) and food
- eservations (since it restricts free water, it prevents bacterial growth
 - can also come from beet sugary sucrose rich with traces doing of the sugary sucrose rich with traces doing of the sugary sucrose rich with traces doing of the sucrement of the sugary sucrose rich with traces doing of the sucrement of the sucrem and stachyose Gal-Gal-Glc-Fru)
 - produce inverted sugar (equal mix of Fur and Glc)
- ve compare the sugar's sweetness to Sucrose (100);
 - fructose is the sweetest since it comes from sugary saps from various palm trees— palmyra, date, coconut; makes golden syrup, high fructose corn syrup (equal mix of Fur and Glc)





What are the oxidation and reduction pr

- In the reduction reaction, the monosacch
 - · this reduction reaction takes place recent it reduces the ald

Figure 11. ApoE^{-/-} mice were fed treated a chow diet (Ctr Chow) or HFD supplemented orally with 0 (Ctr), 5 or 20% mannose for 9 weeks. Plasma and intestines were collected. (A) Immunofluorescent staining of intestinal sections with F4/80+ macrophages (in red) and Dapi for nuclei (in blue). (B) Flow cytometry representative dot plots and quantifications of TLR4 on F4/80+ macrophages in the lamina propia of the small intestine. (C) Plasma lipopolysaccharide (LPS) levels by end point assay (endotoxin units-EU/ml). *P<0.05, **P<0.01 n=5-10. Data are mean ± SEM.

4.4 Oral mannose supplementation does not have an effect in the intestine permeability.

No difference in TLR-4 expression in the intestine as well as the tight junction proteins, claudin-1 and occludin was observed between mannose-treated and Ctr groups (Fig. 12). These data indicated that mannose may not modify gut permeability.



Figure 12. ApoE^{-/-} mice treated with HFD supplemented orally with 0 (Ctr) or 20% mannose for 9 weeks. TLR4, claudin and occludin-1 expression levels were measured by western blotting on the intestine. Quantification graphs of TLR4 (A), claudin(B) and occludin-1 (C) and Beta-actin ratios expressed as fold changes. n=4-7.

4.5 Oral mannose decreases small peritoneal macrophage proportions and recruitment in the peritoneal cavity.

We next investigated macrophages, Small peritoneal macrophages (SPM) and large peritoneal macrophages (LPM), present in the peritoneal cavity described on page 18. Flow cytometry showed a significant decrease of the pro-inflammatory SPM F4/80^{LO} macrophages, described previously, among CD11B+Ly6G- cells in 5% (3.0 ± 0.3) and 20% (7.5 ± 2.8) supplemented mice compared with Ctr (1.4 ± 1.1). However, no difference in proportions of the resident LPM F4/80^{HI} macrophages was observed (Fig.13A,B). To determine macrophage recruitment to the PerC, upon 4 weeks of HFD mice were injected with 4% thioglycolate to create inflammation. Accordingly, SPMs were significantly decreased in 20% (49.0 ± 8.3) mannose-supplemented mice compared to Ctr (74.0 ± 1.3) (Fig.13C). In line with what is reported in the literature[127]. LPMs (F4/80^{HI}) were absent after thioglycolate stimulation.



Figure 13. ApoE^{-/-} mice treated with a HFD supplemented orally with 0 (Ctr), 5 or 20% mannose for 9 weeks. Peritoneal cavity (PerC) cells were collected. Flow cytometry quantifications of F4/80^{LO} SPMs (A) and F4/80^{HI} LPMs (B) from (CD11b+Ly6G-) cells. (C) ApoE^{-/-} mice treated with a HFD supplemented orally with 0 or 20% mannose for 4 weeks. 4% Thioglycolate was injected and PerC cells were collected 4 days later. Representative flow cytometry dot plots with corresponding quantifications of F4/80^{LO} SPM. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.01, n=2-7. Data are mean \pm SEM.

4.6 Oral mannose reduces proportions of circulating Ly6C-expressing monocytes.

Most of macrophages in the tissues migrate from circulating monocytes. We evaluated effects of mannose on monocytes and questioned if it affected myelopoiesis. First, proportions of circulating immune cells were measured. We observed no difference of blood monocytes and lymphocytes and a significant reduction of granulocytes in 20% (47 \pm 2) supplemented mice as compared with Ctr (56 \pm 2) (Fig.14A-C)

Next, blood and bone marrow monocyte subtypes as well as precursors were measured by flow cytometry in mice on a HFD supplemented with 5 or 20% mannose for 9 weeks. Blood Ly6C $^{LO/HI}$ ratio increased significantly in mice supplemented with 20% (1.8± 0.3) mannose compared to Ctr (0.8±0.1) reflecting a decrease in Ly6C^{HI} and an increase in Ly6C^{LO} (Fig.14D). Interestingly, Ly6C^{LO/HI} ratio as well as (c-Kit+Sca1-) progenitor cells were also decreased in the bone marrow in mice supplemented with mannose 20% (Fig.14E,F).



Figure 14. ApoE^{-/-} mice treated with a HFD supplemented orally with 0 (Ctr), 5 or 20% mannose for 9 weeks. Blood was collected and immune cells were measured with vet ABC. Graphs represent proportions of Monocytes (A) lymphocytes (B) and granulocytes (C). Bone marrow (BM) cells were collected. Flow cytometry (D)Blood with representative dot plots and (E,F)BM and quantifications of Ly6C^{LO/HI} ratio from CD11b+ly6G- cells vs 0% (Ctr). *P<0.05 **P<0.01, n=5-18. Data are mean \pm SEM.

4.7 Oral mannose reduced atherosclerotic plaque development

We next assessed atherosclerotic plaques in the aortic sinus and the brachiocephalic artery. OilRedO staining showed a significant reduction in plaque size in mice supplemented with 5 and 20% mannose compared with 0% (Ctr) in both segments (Fig.15). Aortic sinus showed a decrease by 41% in both 5 ($0.23\pm.03$) and 20% (0.23 ± 0.04) mannose compared to Ctl ($0.40\pm.003$). BCA decreased by 45% in 5 ($0.05\pm.01$) and 63% in 20% ($0.03\pm.01$) compared to Ctl ($0.08\pm.01$).

A. Aortic sinus plaques

B. BCA plaques



Figure 15. ApoE^{-/-} mice treated with a HFD supplemented with 0 (Ctr), 5 or 20% mannose for 9 weeks. Representative OilRedO images and plaque size quantifications at the aortic sinus (A) and



49%





Fig 6. Reduced Ly60 monocytes in mice mannose compare are observed in Ly6 CX3CR1+CCR2- cells

20%

Q

5%

Μ

mannose IP compared with vehicle controls (Ctl).

Ctl

Μ

4.9 Mannose supplementation by IP injections did not change atherosclerotic plaque development.

We next questioned whether the atheroprotective effect of mannose is through regulation of gut microbiota. We evaluated atherosclerosis in mannose supplementation by IP injections to bypass the gut. ApoE^{-/-} mice received a HFD with 5g/kg mannose injected intraperitoneally 5 times a week. There were no differences in HFD-induced of body weight and lipid levels (Fig.17A-C). Interestingly, no changes in plaque size were observed between mannose supplemented and control (PBS) groups in the aortic sinus or the brachiocephalic artery (Fig.17 D,E). This result suggests that there could be an involvement of gut microbiota in the atheroprotective effect of mannose.



Figure 17. ApoE^{-/-} mice treated with HFD supplemented with 0 (PBS) or 5g/kg mannose by IP injections for 9 weeks. Animal parameters (A) body weight, (grams). (B) plasma LDL levels ($\mu g/\mu l$). (C) plasma total cholesterol levels ($\mu g/\mu l$). (D,E) Representative OilredO staining images and plaque size quantifications at the aortic sinus and at the brachiocephalic artery. n=4-8. Data are mean ± SEM.

5. Discussion

In this study, we investigated how mannose supplementation to HFD regulates the hosts different systems including the gut microbiota composition and/or the inflammatory response in the bone marrow, the peritoneal cavity and the intestine leading to atherosclerotic plaque development. We observed that mannose supplementation decreased atherosclerotic plaque size in mice under HFD conditions when mannose is given orally however, these effects were not observed when it is supplemented by IP injections, bypassing the gut. This suggests that the protective effect of mannose could be due to the modification of gut microbiota bacterial composition leading to an anti-inflammatory response related to the regulation of monocytes/macrophages. In humans, clinical evidences largely demonstrated that high consumption of sugars is a risk factor in developing obesity and metabolic syndrome which are important risk factors for cardiovascular diseases [341]. In rodents there are also several data reporting the effects of different sugar supplementations on body weight and cholesterol levels under HFD conditions. Increase in weight and plasma cholesterol levels were found in swiss mice with fructose-water for 9 weeks [342] and in hamsters fed HF and high fructose diet for 14 days [343]. On the contrary, rats on a HFD supplemented with fructose or glucose for 20 weeks showed no difference in body weight and a decrease of total cholesterol levels compared with HFD controls [299]. However, treatment of wild type mice on a HFD with sucrose for 15 weeks did not show any difference in body weight and plasma cholesterol levels [344] and an ApoE^{-/-} mice group on a high fructose diet reported no changes in cholesterol levels, but increased atherosclerotic lesions compared to control mice [345]. In our study we showed that mannose supplementation in ApoE⁻ ¹⁻ mice under HFD did not change the increase of body weight and plasma lipid levels as compared with the control group. Accordingly, Sharma and coauthors also did not see any effects of orally supplemented mannose in old C57BL/6 mice [330]. Indeed, atheroprone ApoE^{-/-} mice have increased basal cholesterol levels as compared with non-genetically modified mice, which could explain in part the opposing results on lipid levels obtained with similar treatments. Importantly, the current treatment to reduce CAD caused by atherosclerosis is lipid lowering drugs. Interestingly, we demonstrated that oral treatment of ApoE^{-/-} mice with mannose decreased atherosclerotic plaques under HFD conditions without changes in lipid levels suggesting that mannose prevents atherosclerosis through a different process. We also observed an increase in plasma mannose levels in our mice. However, two studies revealed that increased plasma mannose levels were associated with incident type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular diseases [346, 347]. This could be explained as part of the impossibility of glucose or mannose to enter in the cell due to a reduced expression of GLUT4, the primary glucose and mannose carrier in the adult [347], during insulin resistance states, leading to an increased level of these sugars in the plasma. Increased mannose levels in patients with type 2 diabetes is a consequence of the physiopathology of the disease. Nevertheless, any dietary sugars, including mannose, should be avoided by prediabetic or diabetic individuals. Also, plasma mannose levels were increased in mice supplemented with 5% compared with Ctr. The absence of a significant increase in 20% supplemented mice could be related to a low number of mice in this group. Currently, several studies exhibit a relation between the gut dysbiosis and atherosclerosis [348-350]. In our study the protective effect of oral mannose in plaque formation could be a consequence of the change in the composition of the gut microbiota. The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio is considered to be an indicator for gut dysbiosis. Its rise has been reported in different human and mice studies of obesity [210, 351-353], hypertension [354], increase of lipids [355-357], endotoxemia [358, 359], coronary artery disease [360, 361] and myocarditis [362]. Lower abundance of Bacteroides have been found in humans with CAD [363]. Horne, et al demonstrated that HF and high fructose diet increased the Firmicute/Bacteroidetes ratio[343]. Increased Bacteroidetes to Firmicutes ratio in the gut microbiota was exposed by a study demonstrating that mannose supplementation prevented HFD mice obesity and inflammation [330]. In line with these reports, here we demonstrate here that oral mannose supplementation prevents the increase of this ratio caused by the HFD, promoting the increased number in the Bacteroidetes and lowering the Firmicutes. In addition, when mannose was supplemented by IP injections, atherosclerotic plaques were unchanged. Microbiota is hypothesized to be unaffected by the IP administration of mannose, eluding contact with the digestive tract. Therefore, this result suggest that the effect of mannose is possibly through regulation of gut microbiota composition.

To test the gut dysbiosis inflammation we measured the LPS receptor, TLR4 expression, considered to be involved in the consumption of dietary fats and metabolic inflammation. TLR4deficient mice on a HFD for 8 weeks with increased Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio showed a reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the epididymal fat [364]. Also, inflammation increases gut permeability by decreasing tight junctions. High intake of fructose in rats impairs intestinal barrier function due to the decrease of the expression of occluding tight junction protein [365]. ApoE-/- mice on a HFD treated with polyphenols or Akkermansia muciniphila had a reduction in circulating endotoxin level due to increased intestinal tight junctions, occludin and claudin-1 [366, 367]. In our study, expression of TLR-4 on macrophages of the LP of the small intestine was reduced in mice supplemented with mannose as compared with controls. in contrast, western blotting on the intestinal samples did not show changes in TLR4, or the tight junctions claudin-1 and occludin expression levels compared with controls.

Analysis of gut microbiota in patients with CAD shows a relative depletion of Bacteroidetes compared with controls without CAD with coronary risk factors [368]. Accordingly, it has been shown that ApoE-/- mice gavaged with live Bacteriodetes decreased plasma LPS levels and atherosclerotic lesion formation [363]. Consistently, in our study mannose supplementation of mice prevented the increase of plasma LPS levels observed in the HFD control group, suggesting that mannose regulates gut microbiota, by diminishing bacteria products that cause gut inflammation.

To further explore the systemic changes induced by HFD inflammation, we observed two populations of macrophages in the PerC: an abundant population of so-called "large" peritoneal macrophages (LPM) that are embryonically seeded and long-lived, and a rarer population of short-lived MHCII+ monocyte-derived cells termed small peritoneal macrophages (SPM)[369]. It is already known that mice SPM cells are upregulated following a thioglycolate injection, making LPM phenotype cells barely detectable [127]. In our study, after inducing inflammation with thioglycolate, all mice groups lost the LPMs. Nevertheless, mannose reduced peritoneal SPMs recruitment compared with control group, probably by reducing the flux of blood monocytes and controlling the differentiation of these cells in the PerC. In absence of thioglycolate, we observed both populations showing a decrease in the SPM and no changes in the LPM. A lower recruitment of SPM cells confirms mannose ability to supress thioglycolate-elicited inflammatory response.

Yang et al established in ApoE-/- mice under HFD that blood Ly6C^{HI} monocytes are associated with pro-inflammatory/atherogenic function and that Ly6C^{LO} subtypes present anti-

inflammatory/atherogenic features [370]. Also, some drugs such as, pravastatin suppresses atherosclerosis development by inhibiting Ly6C^{HI} cell expression in ApoE-/- mice [371]. Mannose treatment in our mice increased the Ly6C^{LO/HI} ratio compared to controls, preventing a major inflammatory component in the atherosclerotic plaque formation. The opposite effect was observed in the BM, suggesting that mannose retains Ly6C^{HI} monocytes in the BM, leading to a decrease of their number in the circulation. BM progenitor cell markers c-Kit+Sca1- were reduced in mannose treated mice, indicating that mannose seems to accelerate BM cell differentiation. Interestingly blood cell count indicated a reduction of granulocytes in mice treated with mannose and no difference in monocytes. ApoE polymorphism in humans is not associated with changes in the white blood cell count [372].

Importantly, mannose supplementation decreased atherosclerotic plaque size in both aortic sinus and BCA. Supplementation with berberine, main active component of an ancient Chinese herb Coptis chinensis french, also showed a reduction of atherosclerosis through gut microbiota (Firmicutes and Verrucomicrobia) in ApoE-/- mice under HFD [373]. However, berberine had to be administered intragrastrically because of its poor oral bioavailability, and it did not influence plaque stability. We found that mannose increased plaque stability by increasing smooth muscle cells within the plaque. Lineage-tracing studies demonstrated that atherosclerotic plaque stability depends on the thickness and composition of the fibrous cap [374]. Indeed, the fibrous cap predominately contains cells derived from VSMCs that are the primary source of collagen, providing mechanical tensile strength and resistance to rupture [375]. Collagen VIII deficiency in ApoE-/- mice showed a thinning of the fibrous cap due to decreased SMC proliferation and migration [376]. Vulnerable plaques and ruptured plaques show large necrotic cores (NCs) with or without plaque hemorrhage and a thin fibrous cap [186]. In our study mannose increased plaque SMC content and and plaque stability index taking in account plaque NCs (ratio of α -SMA positive cells to NC size) compared with controls. No differences in CD68+ macrophages were observed. However, we should keep in mind that the atherosclerotic plaque areas were smaller in mannose treated mice, then proportionally there should be less plaque macrophage content compared with controls.

Our study has some limitations. Mannose supplementation was ad libitum by water bottles which makes the exact drink intake inaccurate. The metabolism of murine models is different from

humans, mannose supplementation in mouse does not translate exactly into humans. Mice engage in coprophagia, which means they re-ingest their feces, this may influence the microbiota and the observed results.

Histomorphology remains a powerful routine evaluating intestinal inflammation in animal models. Evaluating quality and dimension of inflammatory cell infiltrates, epithelial changes and overall mucosal architecture would give more information of histopathologic changes of the gut. In our study IP injections of mannose did not change atherosclerotic plaque development. However, mannose plasma levels were measured only in mice supplemented orally with mannose.

Bacteria outside of the gut can be important contributors to immune responses. Recent studies have established the presence of bacteria in atherosclerotic plaques and suggested their possible contribution to the development of cardiovascular diseases [377-379]. Rabbits on high cholesterol diet infected with C. Pneumoniae and treated with antibiotic had an increase of atherosclerosis compared to untreated controls [380]. 16S sequencing of plaque samples from patients with atherosclerosis detected Proteobacteria (90.5%), Actinobacteria (5.3%), Bacteroidetes (1.2%) and Firmicutes (1.1%). A correlation between Granulicatella and an increased total cholesterol concentration was described [381]. Due to plaque size in mice, we could not detect any bacteria within the plaques of our mice.

Mannose prevents the proatherogenic effects caused by HFD, however excessive consumption of diets high in sugars, meats and saturated fat, frequently known as western diet, may lead to obesity and metabolic syndrome [244, 283]. Meats are rich in L-Carnitine and it is an abundant component of the western diet commonly implicated in CVD [283]. L-Carnitine is metabolized by gut microbiota in Trimethylamine (TMA) and then oxidized into TMAO in the liver [382]. TMAO and its precursors have been demonstrated to be involved in CVD and atherosclerosis [283, 372, 383]. Supplementing HFD with L-carnitine would be a high-grade inflammatory model to investigate the effect of mannose in atherosclerosis. Next we will measure gut microbiota derived metabolites in plasma such as short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (acetic acid, propionic acid, butyric acid) that have been shown to play a positive role in cardiovascular system. In contrast TMAO and secondary bile acids (deoxycholic acid or lithocholic acid) contribute to inflammation and atherosclerotic burden[384].

Circulating Ly6C^{HI/LO} monocyte ratio was regulated by mannose, therefore measuring plasma chemokines such as, CCL2, CLL3, CCL4, CX3CL1, would inform us about the role of mannose on circulating inflammatory cells which ultimately leads to atherosclerosis.

To further analyze gut permeability and its relationship with inflammation we plan to measure fecal mannose and endotoxin levels. Confirming the atheroprotective effect of mannose through gut microbiota regulation, we will realize microbiota transplantation, also known as fecal transplants experiments, where microbiota of mannose treated mice will be transplanted into HFD germ free mice to see if similar effects as mannose oral supplementation are observed in plaque development. Also, to evaluate the effects of a different sugar diet on atherosclerosis ApoE-/- mice will be treated with glucose (epimer of mannose) under HFD.

6. Conclusions

Under HFD conditions oral, mannose sugar has the potential to regulate gut microbiota, restoring the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio, which is disbalanced by HFD. In this way, mannose keeps a microbiota more similar to that seen in chow diet fed mice by diminishing gut bacterial products that cause inflammation, less intestinal macrophages are found and activated in the gut, these cells display decreased the expression of TLR4, and the increase of LPS in plasma is prevented, even though mannose did not regulate tight junctions in the intestine or improve the gut barrier function. Oral mannose regulates inflammation by reducing SPM proportions and differentiation, which appear to be the major source of inflammatory mediators in PerC during infection presenting a pro-inflammatory functional profile, without noticing changes in the LPM resident macrophages. A similar effect was observed when inflammation was induced by thioglycolate. Mannose by reducing pro-inflammatory macrophages, could also reduce proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, TNF, and other mediators [385] that are involved in the atherosclerosis development. Mannose increases circulating Ly6C^{LO/HI} monocytes which means that it regulates the proinflammatory process. This may also mean that mannose will favour the differentiation of macrophages towards an M2 phenotype rather than M1. Measuring circulating cytokines and macrophage subtypes will be performed. Mannose raises the retention of Ly6C^{LO/HI} in the BM and affects myelopoiesis by diminishing progenitors c-Kit+Sca1- markers, demonstrating that regulates cell differentiation in the BM and consequently reducing the proinflammatory cells in the circulation and inflammatory response that contribute to atherosclerosis progression. Oral mannose supplementation, most importantly, reduces atherosclerotic lesions, and increases plaque stability, without lowering the lipids levels in the plasma through regulation of gut microbiota. Whereas IP administration of mannose, which bypasses the gut, does not show any plaque reduction. Lipid lowering drugs such as statins are a common medication prescribed to prevent CVD and atherosclerosis. However, statins could have severe side effects in some patients [386, 387]. Long-term treatment with mannose in humans and mice has been shown to be effective and safe [388, 389]. Modulation of gut microbiota by replacing some dietary sugars with mannose may yield an easily applicable and cost-effective strategy that could provide an adjunct to current regimes to treat or prevent atherosclerosis.

Supplemental Figure







Supplemental figure 1. Gating strategies for flowcytometry analysis. A. Blood. B. Bone marrow. C. Peritoneal cavity (PerC) panel.

7. References

- 1. Lusis, A.J., *Atherosclerosis*. Nature, 2000. **407**(6801): p. 233-41.
- 2. Tabas, I., *Apoptosis and efferocytosis in mouse models of atherosclerosis*. Curr Drug Targets, 2007. **8**(12): p. 1288-96.
- 3. Strong, J.P., et al., *Prevalence and extent of atherosclerosis in adolescents and young adults: implications for prevention from the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth Study.* JAMA, 1999. **281**(8): p. 727-35.
- 4. McGill, H.C., Jr., et al., Association of Coronary Heart Disease Risk Factors with microscopic qualities of coronary atherosclerosis in youth. Circulation, 2000. **102**(4): p. 374-9.
- 5. Stary, H.C., *Lipid and macrophage accumulations in arteries of children and the development of atherosclerosis.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2000. **72**(5 Suppl): p. 1297S-1306S.
- 6. Kim, J.R. and J.H. Choi, *CD9 expression in vascular aging and atherosclerosis*. Histol Histopathol, 2020. **35**(12): p. 1449-1454.
- 7. Weberruss, H., et al., *Increased intima-media thickness is not associated with stiffer arteries in children*. Atherosclerosis, 2015. **242**(1): p. 48-55.
- 8. Malek, A.M., S.L. Alper, and S. Izumo, *Hemodynamic shear stress and its role in atherosclerosis.* JAMA, 1999. **282**(21): p. 2035-42.
- 9. Gimbrone, M.A., Jr., et al., *Endothelial dysfunction, hemodynamic forces, and atherogenesis.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2000. **902**: p. 230-9; discussion 239-40.
- 10. Cornhill, J.F. and M.R. Roach, *A quantitative study of the localization of atherosclerotic lesions in the rabbit aorta.* Atherosclerosis, 1976. **23**(3): p. 489-501.
- 11. Glagov, S., et al., *Hemodynamics and atherosclerosis*. *Insights and perspectives gained from studies of human arteries*. Arch Pathol Lab Med, 1988. **112**(10): p. 1018-31.
- 12. Steinman, D.A., *Simulated pathline visualization of computed periodic blood flow patterns*. J Biomech, 2000. **33**(5): p. 623-8.
- 13. Soulis, J.V., et al., *Spatial and phasic oscillation of non-Newtonian wall shear stress in human left coronary artery bifurcation: an insight to atherogenesis.* Coron Artery Dis, 2006. **17**(4): p. 351-8.
- 14. Lee, S.W., et al., *Geometry of the carotid bifurcation predicts its exposure to disturbed flow.* Stroke, 2008. **39**(8): p. 2341-7.
- 15. Giannoglou, G.D., et al., *Wall pressure gradient in normal left coronary artery tree*. Med Eng Phys, 2005. **27**(6): p. 455-64.
- 16. Markl, M., et al., *In vivo wall shear stress distribution in the carotid artery: effect of bifurcation geometry, internal carotid artery stenosis, and recanalization therapy.* Circ Cardiovasc Imaging, 2010. **3**(6): p. 647-55.
- 17. Dhawan, S.S., et al., *Shear stress and plaque development*. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther, 2010. **8**(4): p. 545-56.
- Nagel, T., et al., Vascular endothelial cells respond to spatial gradients in fluid shear stress by enhanced activation of transcription factors. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1999. 19(8): p. 1825-34.
- 19. Fledderus, J.O., et al., *Prolonged shear stress and KLF2 suppress constitutive proinflammatory transcription through inhibition of ATF2*. Blood, 2007. **109**(10): p. 4249-57.

- 20. Brown, A.J., et al., *Role of biomechanical forces in the natural history of coronary atherosclerosis.* Nat Rev Cardiol, 2016. **13**(4): p. 210-20.
- 21. Eshtehardi, P., et al., *High wall shear stress and high-risk plaque: an emerging concept.* Int J Cardiovasc Imaging, 2017. **33**(7): p. 1089-1099.
- 22. Cheng, C., et al., *Atherosclerotic lesion size and vulnerability are determined by patterns of fluid shear stress.* Circulation, 2006. **113**(23): p. 2744-53.
- 23. Chatzizisis, Y.S., et al., *Prediction of the localization of high-risk coronary atherosclerotic plaques on the basis of low endothelial shear stress: an intravascular ultrasound and histopathology natural history study*. Circulation, 2008. **117**(8): p. 993-1002.
- 24. Koskinas, K.C., et al., *Thin-capped atheromata with reduced collagen content in pigs develop in coronary arterial regions exposed to persistently low endothelial shear stress.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2013. **33**(7): p. 1494-504.
- 25. Pedrigi, R.M., et al., Inducing Persistent Flow Disturbances Accelerates Atherogenesis and Promotes Thin Cap Fibroatheroma Development in D374Y-PCSK9 Hypercholesterolemic Minipigs. Circulation, 2015. **132**(11): p. 1003-12.
- 26. Nakashima, Y., et al., *ApoE-deficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree.* Arterioscler Thromb, 1994. **14**(1): p. 133-40.
- 27. Getz, G.S. and C.A. Reardon, *Apoprotein E as a lipid transport and signaling protein in the blood, liver, and artery wall.* J Lipid Res, 2009. **50 Suppl**: p. S156-61.
- 28. Stary, H.C., et al., A definition of the intima of human arteries and of its atherosclerosisprone regions. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Arterioscler Thromb, 1992. **12**(1): p. 120-34.
- 29. Korshunov, V.A., et al., *Axl, a receptor tyrosine kinase, mediates flow-induced vascular remodeling*. Circ Res, 2006. **98**(11): p. 1446-52.
- 30. Langille, B.L. and F. O'Donnell, *Reductions in arterial diameter produced by chronic decreases in blood flow are endothelium-dependent*. Science, 1986. **231**(4736): p. 405-7.
- Zarins, C.K., et al., Carotid bifurcation atherosclerosis. Quantitative correlation of plaque localization with flow velocity profiles and wall shear stress. Circ Res, 1983. 53(4): p. 502-14.
- 32. Caro, C.G., et al., Intimal hyperplasia following implantation of helical-centreline and straight-centreline stents in common carotid arteries in healthy pigs: influence of intraluminal flow. J R Soc Interface, 2013. **10**(89): p. 20130578.
- 33. Chiu, J.J. and S. Chien, *Effects of disturbed flow on vascular endothelium: pathophysiological basis and clinical perspectives.* Physiol Rev, 2011. **91**(1): p. 327-87.
- 34. Tulis, D.A., J.L. Unthank, and R.L. Prewitt, *Flow-induced arterial remodeling in rat mesenteric vasculature*. Am J Physiol, 1998. **274**(3): p. H874-82.
- Korshunov, V.A. and B.C. Berk, *Flow-induced vascular remodeling in the mouse: a model for carotid intima-media thickening*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2003. 23(12): p. 2185-91.
- 36. Schwenke, D.C. and T.E. Carew, *Quantification in vivo of increased LDL content and rate of LDL degradation in normal rabbit aorta occurring at sites susceptible to early atherosclerotic lesions.* Circ Res, 1988. **62**(4): p. 699-710.
- 37. Spring, P.M. and H.F. Hoff, *LDL accumulation in the grossly normal human iliac bifurcation and common iliac arteries.* Exp Mol Pathol, 1989. **51**(2): p. 179-85.

- 38. Getz, G.S., *The involvement of lipoproteins in atherogenesis. Evolving concepts.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1990. **598**: p. 17-28.
- 39. Schwenke, D.C. and T.E. Carew, *Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. I. Focal increases in arterial LDL concentration precede development of fatty streak lesions.* Arteriosclerosis, 1989. **9**(6): p. 895-907.
- 40. Schwenke, D.C. and T.E. Carew, *Initiation of atherosclerotic lesions in cholesterol-fed rabbits. II. Selective retention of LDL vs. selective increases in LDL permeability in susceptible sites of arteries.* Arteriosclerosis, 1989. **9**(6): p. 908-18.
- 41. Nievelstein, P.F., et al., *Lipid accumulation in rabbit aortic intima 2 hours after bolus infusion of low density lipoprotein. A deep-etch and immunolocalization study of ultrarapidly frozen tissue.* Arterioscler Thromb, 1991. **11**(6): p. 1795-805.
- 42. Williams, K.J. and I. Tabas, *The response-to-retention hypothesis of early atherogenesis*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1995. **15**(5): p. 551-61.
- 43. Ross, R., J. Masuda, and E.W. Raines, *Cellular interactions, growth factors, and smooth muscle proliferation in atherogenesis.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1990. **598**: p. 102-12.
- 44. Nielsen, L.B., et al., *Aortic permeability to LDL as a predictor of aortic cholesterol accumulation in cholesterol-fed rabbits.* Arterioscler Thromb, 1992. **12**(12): p. 1402-9.
- 45. Thubrikar, M.J., et al., *Distribution of low density lipoprotein in the branch and non*branch regions of the aorta. Atherosclerosis, 1992. **97**(1): p. 1-9.
- 46. Fry, D.L., E.E. Herderick, and D.K. Johnson, *Local intimal-medial uptakes of 1251albumin, 1251-LDL, and parenteral Evans blue dye protein complex along the aortas of normocholesterolemic minipigs as predictors of subsequent hypercholesterolemic atherogenesis.* Arterioscler Thromb, 1993. **13**(8): p. 1193-204.
- 47. Herrmann, R.A., R.A. Malinauskas, and G.A. Truskey, *Characterization of sites with elevated LDL permeability at intercostal, celiac, and iliac branches of the normal rabbit aorta*. Arterioscler Thromb, 1994. **14**(2): p. 313-23.
- 48. Skalen, K., et al., *Subendothelial retention of atherogenic lipoproteins in early atherosclerosis.* Nature, 2002. **417**(6890): p. 750-4.
- 49. Nordestgaard, B.G. and L.B. Nielsen, *Atherosclerosis and arterial influx of lipoproteins*. Curr Opin Lipidol, 1994. **5**(4): p. 252-7.
- 50. Carew, T.E., et al., *Measurement in vivo of irreversible degradation of low density lipoprotein in the rabbit aorta. Predominance of intimal degradation.* Arteriosclerosis, 1984. **4**(3): p. 214-24.
- 51. Kang, H., et al., *The Entry and Egress of Monocytes in Atherosclerosis: A Biochemical and Biomechanical Driven Process.* Cardiovasc Ther, 2021. **2021**: p. 6642927.
- 52. Moroni, F., et al., *The Role of Monocytes and Macrophages in Human Atherosclerosis, Plaque Neoangiogenesis, and Atherothrombosis.* Mediators Inflamm, 2019. **2019**: p. 7434376.
- 53. Steinberg, D., *Atherogenesis in perspective: hypercholesterolemia and inflammation as partners in crime.* Nat Med, 2002. **8**(11): p. 1211-7.
- 54. Brown, M.S. and J.L. Goldstein, *A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis*. Science, 1986. **232**(4746): p. 34-47.
- 55. Goldstein, J.L. and M.S. Brown, *Regulation of the mevalonate pathway*. Nature, 1990. **343**(6257): p. 425-30.

- 56. Horton, J.D., J.L. Goldstein, and M.S. Brown, *SREBPs: activators of the complete* program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. J Clin Invest, 2002. **109**(9): p. 1125-31.
- 57. Ye, Q., et al., *Difference in LDL receptor feedback regulation in macrophages and vascular smooth muscle cells: foam cell transformation under inflammatory stress.* Inflammation, 2014. **37**(2): p. 555-65.
- 58. Calkin, A.C. and P. Tontonoz, *Transcriptional integration of metabolism by the nuclear sterol-activated receptors LXR and FXR*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2012. **13**(4): p. 213-24.
- 59. Tall, A.R., et al., *HDL, ABC transporters, and cholesterol efflux: implications for the treatment of atherosclerosis.* Cell Metab, 2008. **7**(5): p. 365-75.
- 60. Tosheska Trajkovska, K. and S. Topuzovska, *High-density lipoprotein metabolism and reverse cholesterol transport: strategies for raising HDL cholesterol.* Anatol J Cardiol, 2017. **18**(2): p. 149-154.
- 61. Chistiakov, D.A., Y.V. Bobryshev, and A.N. Orekhov, *Macrophage-mediated cholesterol handling in atherosclerosis.* J Cell Mol Med, 2016. **20**(1): p. 17-28.
- 62. Yoshida, H. and R. Kisugi, *Mechanisms of LDL oxidation*. Clin Chim Acta, 2010. **411**(23-24): p. 1875-82.
- 63. Kunjathoor, V.V., et al., *Scavenger receptors class A-I/II and CD36 are the principal receptors responsible for the uptake of modified low density lipoprotein leading to lipid loading in macrophages.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(51): p. 49982-8.
- 64. Maguire, E.M., S.W.A. Pearce, and Q. Xiao, *Foam cell formation: A new target for fighting atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease*. Vascul Pharmacol, 2019. **112**: p. 54-71.
- 65. Bobryshev, Y.V., *Monocyte recruitment and foam cell formation in atherosclerosis*. Micron, 2006. **37**(3): p. 208-22.
- 66. Yoshida, H., et al., *Minimally oxidized low-density lipoprotein increases expression of scavenger receptor A, CD36, and macrosialin in resident mouse peritoneal macrophages.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1998. **18**(5): p. 794-802.
- 67. Nagy, L., et al., Oxidized LDL regulates macrophage gene expression through ligand activation of PPARgamma. Cell, 1998. **93**(2): p. 229-40.
- Suits, A.G., et al., *Phagocytosis of aggregated lipoprotein by macrophages: low density lipoprotein receptor-dependent foam-cell formation*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1989.
 86(8): p. 2713-7.
- 69. Moore, K.J. and M.W. Freeman, *Scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis: beyond lipid uptake*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2006. **26**(8): p. 1702-11.
- 70. Davies, P.F., *Hemodynamic shear stress and the endothelium in cardiovascular pathophysiology*. Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med, 2009. **6**(1): p. 16-26.
- 71. Shaw, A. and Q. Xu, *Biomechanical stress-induced signaling in smooth muscle cells: an update.* Curr Vasc Pharmacol, 2003. **1**(1): p. 41-58.
- 72. Resnick, N. and M.A. Gimbrone, Jr., *Hemodynamic forces are complex regulators of endothelial gene expression*. FASEB J, 1995. **9**(10): p. 874-82.
- 73. Gimbrone, M.A., Jr., T. Nagel, and J.N. Topper, *Biomechanical activation: an emerging paradigm in endothelial adhesion biology*. J Clin Invest, 1997. **99**(8): p. 1809-13.
- 74. Chappell, D.C., et al., *Oscillatory shear stress stimulates adhesion molecule expression in cultured human endothelium*. Circ Res, 1998. **82**(5): p. 532-9.

- 75. Hwang, J., et al., Oscillatory shear stress stimulates endothelial production of O2- from p47phox-dependent NAD(P)H oxidases, leading to monocyte adhesion. J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(47): p. 47291-8.
- 76. Sorescu, G.P., et al., *Bone morphogenic protein 4 produced in endothelial cells by oscillatory shear stress induces monocyte adhesion by stimulating reactive oxygen species production from a nox1-based NADPH oxidase.* Circ Res, 2004. **95**(8): p. 773-9.
- 77. Ni, C.W., et al., *Discovery of novel mechanosensitive genes in vivo using mouse carotid artery endothelium exposed to disturbed flow.* Blood, 2010. **116**(15): p. e66-73.
- Heydarkhan-Hagvall, S., et al., DNA microarray study on gene expression profiles in cocultured endothelial and smooth muscle cells in response to 4- and 24-h shear stress. Mol Cell Biochem, 2006. 281(1-2): p. 1-15.
- 79. Butcher, J.T., et al., *Transcriptional profiles of valvular and vascular endothelial cells reveal phenotypic differences: influence of shear stress.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2006. **26**(1): p. 69-77.
- 80. Souilhol, C., et al., *Endothelial responses to shear stress in atherosclerosis: a novel role for developmental genes.* Nat Rev Cardiol, 2020. **17**(1): p. 52-63.
- 81. Kwak, B.R., et al., *Biomechanical factors in atherosclerosis: mechanisms and clinical implications*. Eur Heart J, 2014. **35**(43): p. 3013-20, 3020a-3020d.
- 82. Cuhlmann, S., et al., *Disturbed blood flow induces RelA expression via c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1: a novel mode of NF-kappaB regulation that promotes arterial inflammation.* Circ Res, 2011. **108**(8): p. 950-9.
- 83. Xiao, H., et al., *Sterol regulatory element binding protein 2 activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in endothelium mediates hemodynamic-induced atherosclerosis susceptibility*. Circulation, 2013. **128**(6): p. 632-42.
- 84. Bevilacqua, M.P., et al., *Identification of an inducible endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1987. **84**(24): p. 9238-42.
- 85. Rothlein, R., et al., *A human intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM-1) distinct from LFA-1*. J Immunol, 1986. **137**(4): p. 1270-4.
- 86. Berliner, J.A., et al., *Minimally modified low density lipoprotein stimulates monocyte endothelial interactions*. J Clin Invest, 1990. **85**(4): p. 1260-6.
- 87. Cybulsky, M.I. and M.A. Gimbrone, Jr., *Endothelial expression of a mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule during atherogenesis*. Science, 1991. **251**(4995): p. 788-91.
- 88. Nerem, R.M., M.J. Levesque, and J.F. Cornhill, *Vascular endothelial morphology as an indicator of the pattern of blood flow.* J Biomech Eng, 1981. **103**(3): p. 172-6.
- 89. Joris, I., T. Zand, and G. Majno, *Hydrodynamic injury of the endothelium in acute aortic stenosis*. Am J Pathol, 1982. **106**(3): p. 394-408.
- 90. Walpola, P.L., et al., *Expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 and monocyte adherence in arteries exposed to altered shear stress*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1995. **15**(1): p. 2-10.
- 91. Zand, T., et al., *Lipid deposition in rat aortas with intraluminal hemispherical plug stenosis. A morphological and biophysical study.* Am J Pathol, 1999. **155**(1): p. 85-92.
- 92. Stary, H.C., *Evolution and progression of atherosclerotic lesions in coronary arteries of children and young adults.* Arteriosclerosis, 1989. **9**(1 Suppl): p. I19-32.
- 93. Stehbens, W.E., *Focal intimal proliferation in the cerebral arteries*. Am J Pathol, 1960.
 36: p. 289-301.

- 94. Stehbens, W.E. and D. Phil, *The Renal Artery in Normal and Cholesterol-Fed Rabbits*. Am J Pathol, 1963. **43**: p. 969-85.
- 95. Wilens, S.L., *The nature of diffuse intimal thickening of arteries*. Am J Pathol, 1951. **27**(5): p. 825-39.
- 96. Movat, H.Z., R.H. More, and M.D. Haust, *The diffuse intimal thickening of the human aorta with aging*. Am J Pathol, 1958. **34**(6): p. 1023-31.
- 97. Spelde, A.G., et al., *Pathological-anatomical study concerning the geometry and atherosclerosis of the carotid bifurcation*. Eur J Vasc Surg, 1990. **4**(4): p. 345-8.
- 98. Libby, P., et al., Atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers, 2019. 5(1): p. 56.
- 99. Gistera, A. and G.K. Hansson, *The immunology of atherosclerosis*. Nat Rev Nephrol, 2017. **13**(6): p. 368-380.
- 100. Fang, P., et al., *Immune cell subset differentiation and tissue inflammation*. J Hematol Oncol, 2018. **11**(1): p. 97.
- 101. Geissmann, F., S. Jung, and D.R. Littman, *Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties.* Immunity, 2003. **19**(1): p. 71-82.
- 102. Sunderkotter, C., et al., *Subpopulations of mouse blood monocytes differ in maturation stage and inflammatory response*. J Immunol, 2004. **172**(7): p. 4410-7.
- 103. Gordon, S. and P.R. Taylor, *Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2005. **5**(12): p. 953-64.
- 104. Elstad, M.R., et al., *P-selectin regulates platelet-activating factor synthesis and phagocytosis by monocytes*. J Immunol, 1995. **155**(4): p. 2109-22.
- 105. Weyrich, A.S., et al., *Monocyte tethering by P-selectin regulates monocyte chemotactic protein-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha secretion. Signal integration and NF-kappa B translocation.* J Clin Invest, 1995. **95**(5): p. 2297-303.
- 106. Galkina, E. and K. Ley, *Vascular adhesion molecules in atherosclerosis*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2007. **27**(11): p. 2292-301.
- 107. Collins, R.G., et al., *P-Selectin or intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 deficiency* substantially protects against atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein *E-deficient mice*. J Exp Med, 2000. **191**(1): p. 189-94.
- 108. Tacke, F., et al., *Monocyte subsets differentially employ CCR2, CCR5, and CX3CR1 to accumulate within atherosclerotic plaques.* J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(1): p. 185-94.
- 109. Combadiere, C., et al., *Combined inhibition of CCL2, CX3CR1, and CCR5 abrogates Ly6C(hi) and Ly6C(lo) monocytosis and almost abolishes atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic mice.* Circulation, 2008. **117**(13): p. 1649-57.
- 110. Ley, K., et al., *Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated.* Nat Rev Immunol, 2007. **7**(9): p. 678-89.
- 111. Gu, L., et al., *Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 reduces atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice*. Mol Cell, 1998. **2**(2): p. 275-81.
- 112. Barlic, J. and P.M. Murphy, *Chemokine regulation of atherosclerosis*. J Leukoc Biol, 2007. **82**(2): p. 226-36.
- 113. Basurto, L., et al., *Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and fibroblast growth factor-21 (FGF-21) as biomarkers of subclinical atherosclerosis in women.* Exp Gerontol, 2019. **124**: p. 110624.
- Weber, C., A. Schober, and A. Zernecke, *Chemokines: key regulators of mononuclear cell recruitment in atherosclerotic vascular disease*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2004. 24(11): p. 1997-2008.

- Haskell, C.A., M.D. Cleary, and I.F. Charo, Unique role of the chemokine domain of fractalkine in cell capture. Kinetics of receptor dissociation correlate with cell adhesion. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(44): p. 34183-9.
- 116. Imai, T., et al., *Identification and molecular characterization of fractalkine receptor CX3CR1, which mediates both leukocyte migration and adhesion.* Cell, 1997. **91**(4): p. 521-30.
- 117. White, G.E. and D.R. Greaves, *Fractalkine: a survivor's guide: chemokines as antiapoptotic mediators.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2012. **32**(3): p. 589-94.
- 118. Saederup, N., et al., *Fractalkine deficiency markedly reduces macrophage accumulation and atherosclerotic lesion formation in CCR2-/- mice: evidence for independent chemokine functions in atherogenesis.* Circulation, 2008. **117**(13): p. 1642-8.
- 119. Lin, C.S., et al., The CCL5/CCR5 Axis Promotes Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Proliferation and Atherogenic Phenotype Switching. Cell Physiol Biochem, 2018. 47(2): p. 707-720.
- 120. Varol, C., A. Mildner, and S. Jung, *Macrophages: development and tissue specialization*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2015. **33**: p. 643-75.
- 121. Sridharan, R., et al., *Material stiffness influences the polarization state, function and migration mode of macrophages.* Acta Biomater, 2019. **89**: p. 47-59.
- 122. Mills, C.D., et al., *M-1/M-2 macrophages and the Th1/Th2 paradigm*. J Immunol, 2000. **164**(12): p. 6166-73.
- 123. Anderson, C.F. and D.M. Mosser, *A novel phenotype for an activated macrophage: the type 2 activated macrophage*. J Leukoc Biol, 2002. **72**(1): p. 101-6.
- 124. Mantovani, A., et al., *The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization*. Trends Immunol, 2004. **25**(12): p. 677-86.
- 125. Paulson, K.E., et al., *Resident intimal dendritic cells accumulate lipid and contribute to the initiation of atherosclerosis.* Circ Res, 2010. **106**(2): p. 383-90.
- 126. Williams, J.W., et al., *Limited proliferation capacity of aortic intima resident macrophages requires monocyte recruitment for atherosclerotic plaque progression*. Nat Immunol, 2020. **21**(10): p. 1194-1204.
- 127. Ghosn, E.E., et al., *Two physically, functionally, and developmentally distinct peritoneal macrophage subsets.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(6): p. 2568-73.
- 128. Dos Anjos Cassado, A., *F4/80 as a Major Macrophage Marker: The Case of the Peritoneum and Spleen.* Results Probl Cell Differ, 2017. **62**: p. 161-179.
- 129. Cassado Ados, A., M.R. D'Imperio Lima, and K.R. Bortoluci, *Revisiting mouse peritoneal macrophages: heterogeneity, development, and function.* Front Immunol, 2015. **6**: p. 225.
- 130. Yona, S., et al., *Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis.* Immunity, 2013. **38**(1): p. 79-91.
- 131. Okabe, Y. and R. Medzhitov, *Tissue-specific signals control reversible program of localization and functional polarization of macrophages*. Cell, 2014. **157**(4): p. 832-44.
- 132. Cassado Ados, A., et al., *Cellular renewal and improvement of local cell effector activity in peritoneal cavity in response to infectious stimuli.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(7): p. e22141.
- 133. Koltsova, E.K., et al., *Dynamic T cell-APC interactions sustain chronic inflammation in atherosclerosis.* J Clin Invest, 2012. **122**(9): p. 3114-26.
- 134. Steinman, R.M., *Decisions about dendritic cells: past, present, and future*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2012. **30**: p. 1-22.

- 135. Buono, C., et al., *T-bet deficiency reduces atherosclerosis and alters plaque antigenspecific immune responses.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(5): p. 1596-601.
- 136. Frostegard, J., et al., Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: dominance of pro-inflammatory (Th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines. Atherosclerosis, 1999. 145(1): p. 33-43.
- Wolf, D. and K. Ley, *Immunity and Inflammation in Atherosclerosis*. Circ Res, 2019. 124(2): p. 315-327.
- 138. Li, J., et al., *CCR5+T-bet+FoxP3+ Effector CD4 T Cells Drive Atherosclerosis*. Circ Res, 2016. **118**(10): p. 1540-52.
- 139. Butcher, M.J., et al., *Atherosclerosis-Driven Treg Plasticity Results in Formation of a Dysfunctional Subset of Plastic IFNgamma+ Th1/Tregs.* Circ Res, 2016. **119**(11): p. 1190-1203.
- 140. Buono, C., et al., *Influence of interferon-gamma on the extent and phenotype of diet-induced atherosclerosis in the LDLR-deficient mouse*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2003. **23**(3): p. 454-60.
- 141. Gupta, S., et al., *IFN-gamma potentiates atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice*. J Clin Invest, 1997. **99**(11): p. 2752-61.
- 142. Amento, E.P., et al., *Cytokines and growth factors positively and negatively regulate interstitial collagen gene expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells.* Arterioscler Thromb, 1991. **11**(5): p. 1223-30.
- 143. Pinderski Oslund, L.J., et al., *Interleukin-10 blocks atherosclerotic events in vitro and in vivo*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1999. **19**(12): p. 2847-53.
- 144. Mor, A., et al., *Altered status of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells in patients with acute coronary syndromes.* Eur Heart J, 2006. **27**(21): p. 2530-7.
- 145. George, J., et al., *Regulatory T cells and IL-10 levels are reduced in patients with vulnerable coronary plaques.* Atherosclerosis, 2012. **222**(2): p. 519-23.
- 146. Robertson, A.K., et al., *Disruption of TGF-beta signaling in T cells accelerates atherosclerosis.* J Clin Invest, 2003. **112**(9): p. 1342-50.
- 147. Foks, A.C., A.H. Lichtman, and J. Kuiper, *Treating atherosclerosis with regulatory T cells*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2015. **35**(2): p. 280-7.
- 148. Gaddis, D.E., et al., *Apolipoprotein AI prevents regulatory to follicular helper T cell switching during atherosclerosis.* Nat Commun, 2018. **9**(1): p. 1095.
- 149. Bailey-Bucktrout, S.L., et al., *Self-antigen-driven activation induces instability of regulatory T cells during an inflammatory autoimmune response*. Immunity, 2013. **39**(5): p. 949-62.
- 150. Bauriedel, G., et al., *Role of smooth muscle cell death in advanced coronary primary lesions: implications for plaque instability.* Cardiovasc Res, 1999. **41**(2): p. 480-8.
- 151. Orekhov, A.N., et al., *Intimal cells and atherosclerosis. Relationship between the number of intimal cells and major manifestations of atherosclerosis in the human aorta.* Am J Pathol, 1986. **125**(2): p. 402-15.
- 152. Owens, G.K., M.S. Kumar, and B.R. Wamhoff, *Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease*. Physiol Rev, 2004. **84**(3): p. 767-801.
- 153. Saigusa, R., H. Winkels, and K. Ley, *T cell subsets and functions in atherosclerosis*. Nat Rev Cardiol, 2020. **17**(7): p. 387-401.

- 154. Lee, M.Y., et al., Smooth Muscle Cell Genome Browser: Enabling the Identification of Novel Serum Response Factor Target Genes. PLoS One, 2015. **10**(8): p. e0133751.
- 155. Davies, M.J., et al., *Risk of thrombosis in human atherosclerotic plaques: role of extracellular lipid, macrophage, and smooth muscle cell content.* Br Heart J, 1993. 69(5): p. 377-81.
- Doran, A.C., N. Meller, and C.A. McNamara, *Role of smooth muscle cells in the initiation and early progression of atherosclerosis*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2008. 28(5): p. 812-9.
- 157. Strom, A., et al., *Extracellular matrix components in atherosclerotic arteries of Apo E/LDL receptor deficient mice: an immunohistochemical study*. Histol Histopathol, 2004.
 19(2): p. 337-47.
- 158. Glagov, S., et al., *Compensatory enlargement of human atherosclerotic coronary arteries*. N Engl J Med, 1987. **316**(22): p. 1371-5.
- 159. Hao, H., G. Gabbiani, and M.L. Bochaton-Piallat, *Arterial smooth muscle cell heterogeneity: implications for atherosclerosis and restenosis development*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2003. **23**(9): p. 1510-20.
- 160. Rensen, S.S., P.A. Doevendans, and G.J. van Eys, *Regulation and characteristics of vascular smooth muscle cell phenotypic diversity*. Neth Heart J, 2007. **15**(3): p. 100-8.
- 161. Gomez, D. and G.K. Owens, *Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis*. Cardiovasc Res, 2012. **95**(2): p. 156-64.
- 162. Campbell, J.H., et al., *Lipid accumulation in arterial smooth muscle cells. Influence of phenotype.* Atherosclerosis, 1983. **47**(3): p. 279-95.
- 163. Kockx, M.M., et al., *Apoptosis and related proteins in different stages of human atherosclerotic plaques.* Circulation, 1998. **97**(23): p. 2307-15.
- 164. Wolfbauer, G., et al., *Development of the smooth muscle foam cell: uptake of macrophage lipid inclusions*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1986. **83**(20): p. 7760-4.
- 165. Allahverdian, S., et al., Contribution of intimal smooth muscle cells to cholesterol accumulation and macrophage-like cells in human atherosclerosis. Circulation, 2014. 129(15): p. 1551-9.
- 166. Shankman, L.S., et al., *KLF4-dependent phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells has a key role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis.* Nat Med, 2015. **21**(6): p. 628-37.
- 167. Feil, S., et al., *Transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells to macrophage-like cells during atherogenesis.* Circ Res, 2014. **115**(7): p. 662-7.
- 168. Allahverdian, S., et al., *Smooth muscle cell fate and plasticity in atherosclerosis*. Cardiovasc Res, 2018. **114**(4): p. 540-550.
- 169. Gonzalez, L. and B.L. Trigatti, *Macrophage Apoptosis and Necrotic Core Development in Atherosclerosis: A Rapidly Advancing Field with Clinical Relevance to Imaging and Therapy.* Can J Cardiol, 2017. **33**(3): p. 303-312.
- 170. Yao, S., et al., *Endoplasmic reticulum stress promotes macrophage-derived foam cell formation by up-regulating cluster of differentiation 36 (CD36) expression.* J Biol Chem, 2014. **289**(7): p. 4032-42.
- 171. Kolodgie, F.D., et al., *Pathology of atherosclerosis and stenting*. Neuroimaging Clin N Am, 2007. **17**(3): p. 285-301, vii.
- Henson, P.M., D.L. Bratton, and V.A. Fadok, *Apoptotic cell removal*. Curr Biol, 2001.
 11(19): p. R795-805.

- 173. Savill, J. and V. Fadok, *Corpse clearance defines the meaning of cell death*. Nature, 2000. **407**(6805): p. 784-8.
- 174. Majno, G. and I. Joris, *Apoptosis, oncosis, and necrosis. An overview of cell death.* Am J Pathol, 1995. **146**(1): p. 3-15.
- 175. Ball, R.Y., et al., *Evidence that the death of macrophage foam cells contributes to the lipid core of atheroma*. Atherosclerosis, 1995. **114**(1): p. 45-54.
- 176. Fink, S.L. and B.T. Cookson, *Apoptosis, pyroptosis, and necrosis: mechanistic description of dead and dying eukaryotic cells.* Infect Immun, 2005. **73**(4): p. 1907-16.
- 177. Grainger, D.J., J. Reckless, and E. McKilligin, *Apolipoprotein E modulates clearance of apoptotic bodies in vitro and in vivo, resulting in a systemic proinflammatory state in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice.* J Immunol, 2004. **173**(10): p. 6366-75.
- 178. Libby, P., et al., *Cytokines regulate vascular functions related to stability of the atherosclerotic plaque.* J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 1995. **25 Suppl 2**: p. S9-12.
- 179. Taylor, P.R., et al., *A hierarchical role for classical pathway complement proteins in the clearance of apoptotic cells in vivo.* J Exp Med, 2000. **192**(3): p. 359-66.
- 180. Durham, A.L., et al., *Role of smooth muscle cells in vascular calcification: implications in atherosclerosis and arterial stiffness.* Cardiovasc Res, 2018. **114**(4): p. 590-600.
- 181. Stary, H.C., et al., A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation, 1995. 92(5): p. 1355-74.
- 182. Moschonas, I.C. and A.D. Tselepis, *The pathway of neutrophil extracellular traps towards atherosclerosis and thrombosis*. Atherosclerosis, 2019. **288**: p. 9-16.
- 183. Kobiyama, K. and K. Ley, *Atherosclerosis*. Circ Res, 2018. **123**(10): p. 1118-1120.
- 184. Falk, E., et al., *Update on acute coronary syndromes: the pathologists' view*. Eur Heart J, 2013. **34**(10): p. 719-28.
- 185. Libby, P., *Mechanisms of acute coronary syndromes and their implications for therapy*. N Engl J Med, 2013. **368**(21): p. 2004-13.
- Virmani, R., et al., Lessons from sudden coronary death: a comprehensive morphological classification scheme for atherosclerotic lesions. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2000.
 20(5): p. 1262-75.
- 187. Ohayon, J., et al., *Influence of residual stress/strain on the biomechanical stability of vulnerable coronary plaques: potential impact for evaluating the risk of plaque rupture.* Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2007. **293**(3): p. H1987-96.
- 188. Akyildiz, A.C., et al., *Effects of intima stiffness and plaque morphology on peak cap stress*. Biomed Eng Online, 2011. **10**: p. 25.
- 189. Cicha, I., et al., *Carotid plaque vulnerability: a positive feedback between hemodynamic and biochemical mechanisms*. Stroke, 2011. **42**(12): p. 3502-10.
- 190. Dirksen, M.T., et al., *Distribution of inflammatory cells in atherosclerotic plaques relates to the direction of flow.* Circulation, 1998. **98**(19): p. 2000-3.
- 191. Gijsen, F.J., et al., *Strain distribution over plaques in human coronary arteries relates to shear stress.* Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2008. **295**(4): p. H1608-14.
- 192. Tronc, F., et al., *Role of matrix metalloproteinases in blood flow-induced arterial enlargement: interaction with NO.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2000. **20**(12): p. E120-6.

- 193. Galis, Z.S., et al., *Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques.* J Clin Invest, 1994. **94**(6): p. 2493-503.
- 194. O'Hara, A.M. and F. Shanahan, *The gut flora as a forgotten organ*. EMBO Rep, 2006. **7**(7): p. 688-93.
- 195. Sekirov, I., et al., *Gut microbiota in health and disease*. Physiol Rev, 2010. **90**(3): p. 859-904.
- 196. Young, V.B., *Therapeutic manipulation of the microbiota: past, present, and considerations for the future.* Clin Microbiol Infect, 2016. **22**(11): p. 905-909.
- 197. Ghoshal, U.C., et al., *The gut microbiota and irritable bowel syndrome: friend or foe?* Int J Inflam, 2012. **2012**: p. 151085.
- 198. Ley, R.E., D.A. Peterson, and J.I. Gordon, *Ecological and evolutionary forces shaping microbial diversity in the human intestine*. Cell, 2006. **124**(4): p. 837-48.
- 199. Fan, Y. and O. Pedersen, *Gut microbiota in human metabolic health and disease*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2021. **19**(1): p. 55-71.
- 200. Hyman, R.W., et al., *Microbes on the human vaginal epithelium*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2005. **102**(22): p. 7952-7.
- 201. Xu, J., et al., *Evolution of symbiotic bacteria in the distal human intestine*. PLoS Biol, 2007. **5**(7): p. e156.
- 202. Penders, J., et al., *Factors influencing the composition of the intestinal microbiota in early infancy*. Pediatrics, 2006. **118**(2): p. 511-21.
- 203. van Nimwegen, F.A., et al., *Mode and place of delivery, gastrointestinal microbiota, and their influence on asthma and atopy.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2011. **128**(5): p. 948-55 e1-3.
- 204. Finegold, S.M., *Anaerobic infections in humans: an overview.* Anaerobe, 1995. **1**(1): p. 3-9.
- 205. Dominguez-Bello, M.G., et al., Development of the human gastrointestinal microbiota and insights from high-throughput sequencing. Gastroenterology, 2011. 140(6): p. 1713-9.
- 206. Ferreira, C.M., et al., *The central role of the gut microbiota in chronic inflammatory diseases*. J Immunol Res, 2014. **2014**: p. 689492.
- 207. de Wit, N., et al., *Saturated fat stimulates obesity and hepatic steatosis and affects gut microbiota composition by an enhanced overflow of dietary fat to the distal intestine.* Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2012. **303**(5): p. G589-99.
- 208. Hildebrandt, M.A., et al., *High-fat diet determines the composition of the murine gut microbiome independently of obesity*. Gastroenterology, 2009. **137**(5): p. 1716-24 e1-2.
- 209. De Filippo, C., et al., Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010.
 107(33): p. 14691-6.
- 210. Magne, F., et al., *The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes Ratio: A Relevant Marker of Gut Dysbiosis in Obese Patients?* Nutrients, 2020. **12**(5).
- 211. Kumar, J., K. Rani, and C. Datt, *Molecular link between dietary fibre, gut microbiota and health.* Mol Biol Rep, 2020. **47**(8): p. 6229-6237.
- 212. Thursby, E. and N. Juge, *Introduction to the human gut microbiota*. Biochem J, 2017. 474(11): p. 1823-1836.

- 213. Louis, P. and H.J. Flint, *Formation of propionate and butyrate by the human colonic microbiota*. Environ Microbiol, 2017. **19**(1): p. 29-41.
- 214. LeBlanc, J.G., et al., *Bacteria as vitamin suppliers to their host: a gut microbiota perspective*. Curr Opin Biotechnol, 2013. **24**(2): p. 160-8.
- 215. Windey, K., V. De Preter, and K. Verbeke, *Relevance of protein fermentation to gut health*. Mol Nutr Food Res, 2012. **56**(1): p. 184-96.
- 216. Jia, W., G. Xie, and W. Jia, *Bile acid-microbiota crosstalk in gastrointestinal inflammation and carcinogenesis*. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2018. **15**(2): p. 111-128.
- 217. Margolis, K.G., J.F. Cryan, and E.A. Mayer, *The Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis: From Motility to Mood.* Gastroenterology, 2021. **160**(5): p. 1486-1501.
- 218. Avoli, M. and K. Krnjevic, *The Long and Winding Road to Gamma-Amino-Butyric Acid as Neurotransmitter*. Can J Neurol Sci, 2016. **43**(2): p. 219-26.
- 219. Raskov, H., et al., *Irritable bowel syndrome, the microbiota and the gut-brain axis*. Gut Microbes, 2016. 7(5): p. 365-83.
- 220. Dinan, T.G. and J.F. Cryan, *The Microbiome-Gut-Brain Axis in Health and Disease*. Gastroenterol Clin North Am, 2017. **46**(1): p. 77-89.
- 221. Colquhoun, C., M. Duncan, and G. Grant, *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases: Host-Microbial-Environmental Interactions in Dysbiosis.* Diseases, 2020. **8**(2).
- 222. Karlsson, F., et al., *Assessing the human gut microbiota in metabolic diseases*. Diabetes, 2013. **62**(10): p. 3341-9.
- 223. Bisgaard, H., et al., *Reduced diversity of the intestinal microbiota during infancy is associated with increased risk of allergic disease at school age.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2011. **128**(3): p. 646-52 e1-5.
- 224. Angelucci, F., et al., *Antibiotics, gut microbiota, and Alzheimer's disease*. J Neuroinflammation, 2019. **16**(1): p. 108.
- 225. Koren, O., et al., *Human oral, gut, and plaque microbiota in patients with atherosclerosis.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2011. **108 Suppl 1**: p. 4592-8.
- 226. Rosenfeld, M.E. and L.A. Campbell, *Pathogens and atherosclerosis: update on the potential contribution of multiple infectious organisms to the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.* Thromb Haemost, 2011. **106**(5): p. 858-67.
- 227. Backhed, F., et al., *The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(44): p. 15718-23.
- 228. Cani, P.D., et al., *Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance*. Diabetes, 2007. **56**(7): p. 1761-72.
- 229. Karlsson, F.H., et al., *Gut metagenome in European women with normal, impaired and diabetic glucose control.* Nature, 2013. **498**(7452): p. 99-103.
- 230. Yusuf, S., et al., *Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: part I: general considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization.* Circulation, 2001. **104**(22): p. 2746-53.
- 231. Schoeler, M. and R. Caesar, *Dietary lipids, gut microbiota and lipid metabolism*. Rev Endocr Metab Disord, 2019. **20**(4): p. 461-472.
- 232. Erridge, C., et al., *A high-fat meal induces low-grade endotoxemia: evidence of a novel mechanism of postprandial inflammation.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2007. **86**(5): p. 1286-92.
- 233. Velasquez, O.R., et al., *Oleic acid-induced mucosal injury in developing piglet intestine*. Am J Physiol, 1993. **264**(3 Pt 1): p. G576-82.
- 234. Levels, J.H., et al., *Distribution and kinetics of lipoprotein-bound endotoxin*. Infect Immun, 2001. **69**(5): p. 2821-8.
- 235. Caesar, R., et al., Crosstalk between Gut Microbiota and Dietary Lipids Aggravates WAT Inflammation through TLR Signaling. Cell Metab, 2015. **22**(4): p. 658-68.
- 236. Manco, M., L. Putignani, and G.F. Bottazzo, *Gut microbiota, lipopolysaccharides, and innate immunity in the pathogenesis of obesity and cardiovascular risk.* Endocr Rev, 2010. **31**(6): p. 817-44.
- 237. Pajkrt, D., et al., *Antiinflammatory effects of reconstituted high-density lipoprotein during human endotoxemia.* J Exp Med, 1996. **184**(5): p. 1601-8.
- 238. Feingold, K.R., et al., *Role for circulating lipoproteins in protection from endotoxin toxicity*. Infect Immun, 1995. **63**(5): p. 2041-6.
- 239. Lehr, H.A., et al., *Immunopathogenesis of atherosclerosis: endotoxin accelerates atherosclerosis in rabbits on hypercholesterolemic diet.* Circulation, 2001. **104**(8): p. 914-20.
- 240. Michelsen, K.S., et al., *Lack of Toll-like receptor 4 or myeloid differentiation factor 88 reduces atherosclerosis and alters plaque phenotype in mice deficient in apolipoprotein E.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(29): p. 10679-84.
- 241. Everard, A., et al., *Intestinal epithelial MyD88 is a sensor switching host metabolism towards obesity according to nutritional status*. Nat Commun, 2014. **5**: p. 5648.
- 242. Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi, *Pathogen recognition and innate immunity*. Cell, 2006. **124**(4): p. 783-801.
- 243. Mozaffarian, D., *Dietary and Policy Priorities for Cardiovascular Disease, Diabetes, and Obesity: A Comprehensive Review.* Circulation, 2016. **133**(2): p. 187-225.
- 244. Varlamov, O., *Western-style diet, sex steroids and metabolism*. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis, 2017. **1863**(5): p. 1147-1155.
- 245. Kopp, W., *How Western Diet And Lifestyle Drive The Pandemic Of Obesity And Civilization Diseases.* Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes, 2019. **12**: p. 2221-2236.
- 246. Just, S., et al., *The gut microbiota drives the impact of bile acids and fat source in diet on mouse metabolism*. Microbiome, 2018. **6**(1): p. 134.
- 247. Lam, Y.Y., et al., *Effects of dietary fat profile on gut permeability and microbiota and their relationships with metabolic changes in mice*. Obesity (Silver Spring), 2015. 23(7): p. 1429-39.
- 248. Agus, A., K. Clement, and H. Sokol, *Gut microbiota-derived metabolites as central regulators in metabolic disorders*. Gut, 2021. **70**(6): p. 1174-1182.
- 249. Bergman, E.N., *Energy contributions of volatile fatty acids from the gastrointestinal tract in various species*. Physiol Rev, 1990. **70**(2): p. 567-90.
- 250. den Besten, G., et al., *Gut-derived short-chain fatty acids are vividly assimilated into host carbohydrates and lipids*. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 2013. **305**(12): p. G900-10.
- 251. Velazquez, O.C., H.M. Lederer, and J.L. Rombeau, *Butyrate and the colonocyte. Production, absorption, metabolism, and therapeutic implications.* Adv Exp Med Biol, 1997. **427**: p. 123-34.
- 252. Hosseini, E., et al., *Propionate as a health-promoting microbial metabolite in the human gut.* Nutr Rev, 2011. **69**(5): p. 245-58.
- 253. Koh, A., et al., From Dietary Fiber to Host Physiology: Short-Chain Fatty Acids as Key Bacterial Metabolites. Cell, 2016. **165**(6): p. 1332-1345.

- 254. Tolhurst, G., et al., *Short-chain fatty acids stimulate glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion via the G-protein-coupled receptor FFAR2*. Diabetes, 2012. **61**(2): p. 364-71.
- 255. Kimura, I., et al., *The gut microbiota suppresses insulin-mediated fat accumulation via the short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR43*. Nat Commun, 2013. **4**: p. 1829.
- 256. Ge, H., et al., Activation of G protein-coupled receptor 43 in adipocytes leads to inhibition of lipolysis and suppression of plasma free fatty acids. Endocrinology, 2008. 149(9): p. 4519-26.
- 257. McNelis, J.C., et al., *GPR43 Potentiates beta-Cell Function in Obesity*. Diabetes, 2015. **64**(9): p. 3203-17.
- 258. Holst, J.J., *The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1*. Physiol Rev, 2007. **87**(4): p. 1409-39.
- 259. Chambers, E.S., et al., *Effects of targeted delivery of propionate to the human colon on appetite regulation, body weight maintenance and adiposity in overweight adults.* Gut, 2015. **64**(11): p. 1744-54.
- 260. Robertson, M.D., et al., *Insulin-sensitizing effects of dietary resistant starch and effects on skeletal muscle and adipose tissue metabolism.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2005. **82**(3): p. 559-67.
- 261. Samuel, B.S., et al., *Effects of the gut microbiota on host adiposity are modulated by the short-chain fatty-acid binding G protein-coupled receptor, Gpr41*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. **105**(43): p. 16767-72.
- 262. Yamashita, H., et al., *Improvement of obesity and glucose tolerance by acetate in Type 2 diabetic Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rats.* Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 2007. **71**(5): p. 1236-43.
- 263. Gao, Z., et al., *Butyrate improves insulin sensitivity and increases energy expenditure in mice*. Diabetes, 2009. **58**(7): p. 1509-17.
- 264. De Vadder, F., et al., *Microbiota-generated metabolites promote metabolic benefits via gut-brain neural circuits*. Cell, 2014. **156**(1-2): p. 84-96.
- 265. Parseus, A., et al., *Microbiota-induced obesity requires farnesoid X receptor*. Gut, 2017. **66**(3): p. 429-437.
- 266. Wahlstrom, A., et al., *Intestinal Crosstalk between Bile Acids and Microbiota and Its Impact on Host Metabolism.* Cell Metab, 2016. **24**(1): p. 41-50.
- 267. Craig, M., S.N.S. Yarrarapu, and M. Dimri, *Biochemistry, Cholesterol*, in *StatPearls*. 2022: Treasure Island (FL).
- 268. Russell, D.W., *The enzymes, regulation, and genetics of bile acid synthesis*. Annu Rev Biochem, 2003. **72**: p. 137-74.
- 269. Jones, M.L., et al., *The human microbiome and bile acid metabolism: dysbiosis, dysmetabolism, disease and intervention.* Expert Opin Biol Ther, 2014. **14**(4): p. 467-82.
- 270. Brown, J.M. and S.L. Hazen, *Microbial modulation of cardiovascular disease*. Nat Rev Microbiol, 2018. **16**(3): p. 171-181.
- 271. Lefebvre, P., et al., *Role of bile acids and bile acid receptors in metabolic regulation*. Physiol Rev, 2009. **89**(1): p. 147-91.
- 272. Ridlon, J.M., et al., *Consequences of bile salt biotransformations by intestinal bacteria*. Gut Microbes, 2016. **7**(1): p. 22-39.
- 273. Jones, M.L., et al., Cholesterol-lowering efficacy of a microencapsulated bile salt hydrolase-active Lactobacillus reuteri NCIMB 30242 yoghurt formulation in hypercholesterolaemic adults. Br J Nutr, 2012. **107**(10): p. 1505-13.

- 274. Tremaroli, V. and F. Backhed, *Functional interactions between the gut microbiota and host metabolism*. Nature, 2012. **489**(7415): p. 242-9.
- 275. Hansson, G.K., A.K. Robertson, and C. Soderberg-Naucler, *Inflammation and atherosclerosis*. Annu Rev Pathol, 2006. 1: p. 297-329.
- 276. Chiang, J.Y.L., et al., *Bile Acid and Cholesterol Metabolism in Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease and Therapy*. Cardiol Plus, 2020. **5**(4): p. 159-170.
- Wan, Y.Y. and L. Sheng, *Regulation of bile acid receptor activity()*. Liver Res, 2018.
 2(4): p. 180-185.
- 278. Chiang, J.Y.L. and J.M. Ferrell, *Bile Acids as Metabolic Regulators and Nutrient Sensors*. Annu Rev Nutr, 2019. **39**: p. 175-200.
- 279. Pols, T.W., et al., *TGR5 activation inhibits atherosclerosis by reducing macrophage inflammation and lipid loading*. Cell Metab, 2011. **14**(6): p. 747-57.
- 280. Pekala, J., et al., *L-carnitine--metabolic functions and meaning in humans life*. Curr Drug Metab, 2011. **12**(7): p. 667-78.
- 281. Tang, W.H., et al., *Intestinal microbial metabolism of phosphatidylcholine and cardiovascular risk*. N Engl J Med, 2013. **368**(17): p. 1575-84.
- 282. Verhaar, B.J.H., et al., *Gut Microbiota in Hypertension and Atherosclerosis: A Review*. Nutrients, 2020. **12**(10).
- 283. Koeth, R.A., et al., *Intestinal microbiota metabolism of L-carnitine, a nutrient in red meat, promotes atherosclerosis.* Nat Med, 2013. **19**(5): p. 576-85.
- 284. Wang, Z., et al., *Prognostic value of choline and betaine depends on intestinal microbiota-generated metabolite trimethylamine-N-oxide*. Eur Heart J, 2014. **35**(14): p. 904-10.
- 285. Bennett, B.J., et al., Genetic Architecture of Atherosclerosis in Mice: A Systems Genetics Analysis of Common Inbred Strains. PLoS Genet, 2015. 11(12): p. e1005711.
- 286. Gregory, J.C., et al., *Transmission of atherosclerosis susceptibility with gut microbial transplantation.* J Biol Chem, 2015. **290**(9): p. 5647-60.
- 287. Shih, D.M., et al., *Flavin containing monooxygenase 3 exerts broad effects on glucose and lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis.* J Lipid Res, 2015. **56**(1): p. 22-37.
- 288. Miao, J., et al., *Flavin-containing monooxygenase 3 as a potential player in diabetesassociated atherosclerosis.* Nat Commun, 2015. **6**: p. 6498.
- 289. Bennett, B.J., et al., *Trimethylamine-N-oxide, a metabolite associated with atherosclerosis, exhibits complex genetic and dietary regulation*. Cell Metab, 2013. 17(1): p. 49-60.
- 290. Perry, R.J., et al., Acetate mediates a microbiome-brain-beta-cell axis to promote metabolic syndrome. Nature, 2016. **534**(7606): p. 213-7.
- 291. Wang, Z., et al., *Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes cardiovascular disease*. Nature, 2011. **472**(7341): p. 57-63.
- 292. Febbraio, M., et al., *Targeted disruption of the class B scavenger receptor CD36 protects against atherosclerotic lesion development in mice.* J Clin Invest, 2000. **105**(8): p. 1049-56.
- 293. Suzuki, H., et al., *A role for macrophage scavenger receptors in atherosclerosis and susceptibility to infection*. Nature, 1997. **386**(6622): p. 292-6.
- 294. Seldin, M.M., et al., *Trimethylamine N-Oxide Promotes Vascular Inflammation Through Signaling of Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase and Nuclear Factor-kappaB.* J Am Heart Assoc, 2016. **5**(2).

- 295. Khan, S., et al., *Dietary simple sugars alter microbial ecology in the gut and promote colitis in mice*. Sci Transl Med, 2020. **12**(567).
- 296. de Leder Kremer, R.M. and C. Gallo-Rodriguez, *Naturally occurring monosaccharides: properties and synthesis*. Adv Carbohydr Chem Biochem, 2004. **59**: p. 9-67.
- 297. Herman, M.A. and M.J. Birnbaum, *Molecular aspects of fructose metabolism and metabolic disease*. Cell Metab, 2021. **33**(12): p. 2329-2354.
- 298. Chiu, T.H., et al., *A high triglyceride-glucose index is associated with left ventricular dysfunction and atherosclerosis.* Int J Med Sci, 2021. **18**(4): p. 1051-1057.
- 299. Moreno-Fernandez, S., et al., *High Fat/High Glucose Diet Induces Metabolic Syndrome in an Experimental Rat Model*. Nutrients, 2018. **10**(10).
- 300. Bremer, A.A., et al., *Fructose-fed rhesus monkeys: a nonhuman primate model of insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes.* Clin Transl Sci, 2011. **4**(4): p. 243-52.
- 301. Dou, L. and N. Jourde-Chiche, *Endothelial Toxicity of High Glucose and its by-Products in Diabetic Kidney Disease*. Toxins (Basel), 2019. **11**(10).
- 302. Taskinen, M.R., et al., Adverse effects of fructose on cardiometabolic risk factors and hepatic lipid metabolism in subjects with abdominal obesity. J Intern Med, 2017. 282(2): p. 187-201.
- 303. Ter Horst, K.W., et al., *Hepatic Insulin Resistance Is Not Pathway Selective in Humans With Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease*. Diabetes Care, 2021. **44**(2): p. 489-498.
- 304. Stanhope, K.L., et al., *Consuming fructose-sweetened, not glucose-sweetened, beverages increases visceral adiposity and lipids and decreases insulin sensitivity in overweight/obese humans.* J Clin Invest, 2009. **119**(5): p. 1322-34.
- 305. Torretta, S., et al., *D-mannose suppresses macrophage IL-1beta production*. Nat Commun, 2020. **11**(1): p. 6343.
- 306. Herman, R.H., *Mannose metabolism. I.* Am J Clin Nutr, 1971. 24(4): p. 488-98.
- 307. Sharma, V., M. Ichikawa, and H.H. Freeze, *Mannose metabolism: more than meets the eye*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2014. **453**(2): p. 220-8.
- 308. Alton, G., et al., Oral ingestion of mannose elevates blood mannose levels: a first step toward a potential therapy for carbohydrate-deficient glycoprotein syndrome type I. Biochem Mol Med, 1997. 60(2): p. 127-33.
- 309. Kranjcec, B., D. Papes, and S. Altarac, *D-mannose powder for prophylaxis of recurrent urinary tract infections in women: a randomized clinical trial.* World J Urol, 2014. 32(1): p. 79-84.
- 310. Foxman, B., *The epidemiology of urinary tract infection*. Nat Rev Urol, 2010. 7(12): p. 653-60.
- 311. Aronson, M., et al., *Prevention of colonization of the urinary tract of mice with Escherichia coli by blocking of bacterial adherence with methyl alpha-Dmannopyranoside.* J Infect Dis, 1979. **139**(3): p. 329-32.
- 312. Niehues, R., et al., Carbohydrate-deficient glycoprotein syndrome type Ib. Phosphomannose isomerase deficiency and mannose therapy. J Clin Invest, 1998. 101(7): p. 1414-20.
- 313. Mueckler, M. and B. Thorens, *The SLC2 (GLUT) family of membrane transporters*. Mol Aspects Med, 2013. **34**(2-3): p. 121-38.
- 314. Alton, G., et al., *Direct utilization of mannose for mammalian glycoprotein biosynthesis*. Glycobiology, 1998. **8**(3): p. 285-95.

- 315. Sharma, V. and H.H. Freeze, *Mannose efflux from the cells: a potential source of mannose in blood.* J Biol Chem, 2011. **286**(12): p. 10193-200.
- 316. Go, S., et al., *Oral ingestion of mannose alters the expression level of deaminoneuraminic acid (KDN) in mouse organs.* Glycoconj J, 2006. **23**(5-6): p. 411-21.
- 317. de Haas, P., et al., *Evaluation of Cell Models to Study Monocyte Functions in PMM2 Congenital Disorders of Glycosylation*. Front Immunol, 2022. **13**: p. 869031.
- 318. Blank, C., et al., *Recurrent infections and immunological dysfunction in congenital disorder of glycosylation Ia (CDG Ia).* J Inherit Metab Dis, 2006. **29**(4): p. 592.
- 319. Gonzalez, P.S., et al., *Mannose impairs tumour growth and enhances chemotherapy*. Nature, 2018. **563**(7733): p. 719-723.
- 320. Westphal, D., et al., *Molecular biology of Bax and Bak activation and action*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2011. **1813**(4): p. 521-31.
- 321. Liu, H., et al., *D-mannose attenuates bone loss in mice via Treg cell proliferation and gut microbiota-dependent anti-inflammatory effects.* Ther Adv Chronic Dis, 2020. **11**: p. 2040622320912661.
- 322. Wang, H., et al., *D-mannose ameliorates autoimmune phenotypes in mouse models of lupus*. BMC Immunol, 2021. **22**(1): p. 1.
- 323. Zhang, D., et al., *D-mannose induces regulatory T cells and suppresses immunopathology*. Nat Med, 2017. **23**(9): p. 1036-1045.
- 324. Kubiczkova, L., et al., *TGF-beta an excellent servant but a bad master*. J Transl Med, 2012. **10**: p. 183.
- 325. Tannahill, G.M., et al., *Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces IL-1beta through HIF-1alpha*. Nature, 2013. **496**(7444): p. 238-42.
- 326. Mills, E.L., et al., Succinate Dehydrogenase Supports Metabolic Repurposing of Mitochondria to Drive Inflammatory Macrophages. Cell, 2016. **167**(2): p. 457-470 e13.
- 327. Backer, V., et al., *Knockdown of myeloid cell hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha ameliorates the acute pathology in DSS-induced colitis.* PLoS One, 2017. **12**(12): p. e0190074.
- 328. Kim, Y.E., et al., *HIF-1alpha activation in myeloid cells accelerates dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis progression in mice*. Dis Model Mech, 2018. **11**(7).
- 329. Kossi, J., et al., *Effects of hexose sugars: glucose, fructose, galactose and mannose on wound healing in the rat.* Eur Surg Res, 1999. **31**(1): p. 74-82.
- 330. Sharma, V., et al., *Mannose Alters Gut Microbiome, Prevents Diet-Induced Obesity, and Improves Host Metabolism.* Cell Rep, 2018. **24**(12): p. 3087-3098.
- 331. Zhao, L., et al., *A combination of quercetin and resveratrol reduces obesity in high-fat diet-fed rats by modulation of gut microbiota.* Food Funct, 2017. **8**(12): p. 4644-4656.
- 332. Hou, Y.P., et al., *Human Gut Microbiota Associated with Obesity in Chinese Children and Adolescents*. Biomed Res Int, 2017. **2017**: p. 7585989.
- 333. Ley, R.E., et al., *Microbial ecology: human gut microbes associated with obesity.* Nature, 2006. **444**(7122): p. 1022-3.
- 334. Ng, B.G. and H.H. Freeze, *Human genetic disorders involving* glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchors and glycosphingolipids (GSL). J Inherit Metab Dis, 2015. **38**(1): p. 171-8.
- 335. Venegas-Pino, D.E., et al., *Quantitative analysis and characterization of atherosclerotic lesions in the murine aortic sinus.* J Vis Exp, 2013(82): p. 50933.

- 336. associates, T.c. *Aortic valve stenosis*. 2020; Available from: <u>https://tampacardio.com/cardiovascular-health/aortic-valve-stenosis/</u>.
- 337. OpenStax. *Anatomy and Physiology*. 2013; Available from: <u>https://openstax.org/books/anatomy-and-physiology/pages/1-introduction</u>.
- 338. Azuma, K., et al., *Presence of alpha-smooth muscle actin-positive endothelial cells in the luminal surface of adult aorta*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2009. **380**(3): p. 620-6.
- 339. Chistiakov, D.A., et al., *CD68/macrosialin: not just a histochemical marker*. Lab Invest, 2017. **97**(1): p. 4-13.
- Rogers, W.J., et al., Characterization of signal properties in atherosclerotic plaque components by intravascular MRI. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2000. 20(7): p. 1824-30.
- 341. Malik, V.S., et al., *Sugar-sweetened beverages and risk of metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis.* Diabetes Care, 2010. **33**(11): p. 2477-83.
- 342. De Souza, L., et al., *Impact of different fructose concentrations on metabolic and behavioral parameters of male and female mice*. Physiol Behav, 2021. **228**: p. 113187.
- 343. Horne, R.G., et al., *High Fat-High Fructose Diet-Induced Changes in the Gut Microbiota Associated with Dyslipidemia in Syrian Hamsters.* Nutrients, 2020. **12**(11).
- 344. Ishimoto, T., et al., *High-fat and high-sucrose (western) diet induces steatohepatitis that is dependent on fructokinase.* Hepatology, 2013. **58**(5): p. 1632-43.
- 345. Cannizzo, B., et al., *Insulin resistance promotes early atherosclerosis via increased proinflammatory proteins and oxidative stress in fructose-fed ApoE-KO mice.* Exp Diabetes Res, 2012. **2012**: p. 941304.
- 346. Mardinoglu, A., et al., *Plasma Mannose Levels Are Associated with Incident Type 2 Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease.* Cell Metab, 2017. **26**(2): p. 281-283.
- 347. Koseler, A., et al., *Molecular and Biochemical Parameters Related to Plasma Mannose Levels in Coronary Artery Disease Among Nondiabetic Patients*. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers, 2020. **24**(9): p. 562-568.
- 348. Barrington, W.T. and A.J. Lusis, *Atherosclerosis: Association between the gut microbiome and atherosclerosis.* Nat Rev Cardiol, 2017. **14**(12): p. 699-700.
- 349. Witkowski, M., T.L. Weeks, and S.L. Hazen, *Gut Microbiota and Cardiovascular Disease*. Circ Res, 2020. **127**(4): p. 553-570.
- 350. Tang, W.H., T. Kitai, and S.L. Hazen, *Gut Microbiota in Cardiovascular Health and Disease*. Circ Res, 2017. **120**(7): p. 1183-1196.
- 351. Stojanov, S., A. Berlec, and B. Strukelj, *The Influence of Probiotics on the Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes Ratio in the Treatment of Obesity and Inflammatory Bowel disease*. Microorganisms, 2020. **8**(11).
- 352. Indiani, C., et al., *Childhood Obesity and Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes Ratio in the Gut Microbiota: A Systematic Review.* Child Obes, 2018. **14**(8): p. 501-509.
- 353. Crovesy, L., D. Masterson, and E.L. Rosado, *Profile of the gut microbiota of adults with obesity: a systematic review*. Eur J Clin Nutr, 2020. **74**(9): p. 1251-1262.
- 354. Yang, T., et al., *Gut dysbiosis is linked to hypertension*. Hypertension, 2015. **65**(6): p. 1331-40.
- 355. Jasirwan, C.O.M., et al., *Correlation of gut Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio with fibrosis and steatosis stratified by body mass index in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease*. Biosci Microbiota Food Health, 2021. **40**(1): p. 50-58.

- 356. Vallianou, N., et al., Understanding the Role of the Gut Microbiome and Microbial Metabolites in Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Current Evidence and Perspectives. Biomolecules, 2021. **12**(1).
- 357. Tan, R., et al., Intestinal Microbiota Mediates High-Fructose and High-Fat Diets to Induce Chronic Intestinal Inflammation. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 2021. **11**: p. 654074.
- 358. Spychala, M.S., et al., *Age-related changes in the gut microbiota influence systemic inflammation and stroke outcome*. Ann Neurol, 2018. **84**(1): p. 23-36.
- 359. Chisari, E., et al., *The relation between the gut microbiome and osteoarthritis: A systematic review of literature.* PLoS One, 2021. **16**(12): p. e0261353.
- 360. Liu, L., X. He, and Y. Feng, *Coronary heart disease and intestinal microbiota*. Coron Artery Dis, 2019. **30**(5): p. 384-389.
- 361. Emoto, T., et al., *Analysis of Gut Microbiota in Coronary Artery Disease Patients: a Possible Link between Gut Microbiota and Coronary Artery Disease.* J Atheroscler Thromb, 2016. **23**(8): p. 908-21.
- 362. Hu, X.F., et al., *Fecal microbiota transplantation alleviates myocardial damage in myocarditis by restoring the microbiota composition*. Pharmacol Res, 2019. **139**: p. 412-421.
- Yoshida, N., et al., Bacteroides vulgatus and Bacteroides dorei Reduce Gut Microbial Lipopolysaccharide Production and Inhibit Atherosclerosis. Circulation, 2018. 138(22): p. 2486-2498.
- 364. Kim, K.A., et al., *High fat diet-induced gut microbiota exacerbates inflammation and obesity in mice via the TLR4 signaling pathway.* PLoS One, 2012. **7**(10): p. e47713.
- 365. Wang, Y., et al., *High-Fructose Diet Increases Inflammatory Cytokines and Alters Gut Microbiota Composition in Rats.* Mediators Inflamm, 2020. **2020**: p. 6672636.
- Li, J., et al., Akkermansia Muciniphila Protects Against Atherosclerosis by Preventing Metabolic Endotoxemia-Induced Inflammation in Apoe-/- Mice. Circulation, 2016. 133(24): p. 2434-46.
- 367. Liu, F., et al., *Millet shell polyphenols prevent atherosclerosis by protecting the gut barrier and remodeling the gut microbiota in ApoE(-/-) mice*. Food Funct, 2021. 12(16): p. 7298-7309.
- 368. Smith, D.D., et al., *Increased aortic atherosclerotic plaque development in female apolipoprotein E-null mice is associated with elevated thromboxane A2 and decreased prostacyclin production.* J Physiol Pharmacol, 2010. **61**(3): p. 309-16.
- 369. Bain, C.C., et al., *Long-lived self-renewing bone marrow-derived macrophages displace embryo-derived cells to inhabit adult serous cavities.* Nat Commun, 2016. 7: p. ncomms11852.
- 370. Yang, P., et al., Adaptive Immune Response Signaling Is Suppressed in Ly6C(high) Monocyte but Upregulated in Monocyte Subsets of ApoE (-/-) Mice - Functional Implication in Atherosclerosis. Front Immunol, 2021. 12: p. 809208.
- 371. Chen, Y., et al., Pravastatin attenuates atherosclerosis after myocardial infarction by inhibiting inflammatory Ly6C(high) monocytosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. J Int Med Res, 2020. 48(7): p. 300060520932816.
- 372. Yun, Y.W., et al., APOE Polymorphism Is Associated with C-reactive Protein Levels but Not with White Blood Cell Count: Dong-gu Study and Namwon Study. J Korean Med Sci, 2015. 30(7): p. 860-5.

- 373. Shi, Y., et al., *Berberine treatment reduces atherosclerosis by mediating gut microbiota in apoE-/- mice*. Biomed Pharmacother, 2018. **107**: p. 1556-1563.
- 374. Gomez, D., et al., *Detection of histone modifications at specific gene loci in single cells in histological sections.* Nat Methods, 2013. **10**(2): p. 171-7.
- 375. Adiguzel, E., et al., *Collagens in the progression and complications of atherosclerosis.* Vasc Med, 2009. **14**(1): p. 73-89.
- 376. Lopes, J., et al., *Type VIII collagen mediates vessel wall remodeling after arterial injury and fibrous cap formation in atherosclerosis.* Am J Pathol, 2013. **182**(6): p. 2241-53.
- 377. Rafferty, B., et al., *Cultivation of Enterobacter hormaechei from human atherosclerotic tissue*. J Atheroscler Thromb, 2011. **18**(1): p. 72-81.
- 378. Armingohar, Z., et al., *Bacteria and bacterial DNA in atherosclerotic plaque and aneurysmal wall biopsies from patients with and without periodontitis.* J Oral Microbiol, 2014. **6**.
- 379. Calandrini, C.A., et al., *Microbial composition of atherosclerotic plaques*. Oral Dis, 2014. **20**(3): p. e128-34.
- 380. Fong, I.W., et al., *Influence of clarithromycin on early atherosclerotic lesions after Chlamydia pneumoniae infection in a rabbit model.* Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 2002. **46**(8): p. 2321-6.
- 381. Ziganshina, E.E., et al., *Bacterial Communities Associated with Atherosclerotic Plaques* from Russian Individuals with Atherosclerosis. PLoS One, 2016. **11**(10): p. e0164836.
- 382. Rajakovich, L.J., et al., *Elucidation of an anaerobic pathway for metabolism of lcarnitine-derived gamma-butyrobetaine to trimethylamine in human gut bacteria.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2021. **118**(32).
- 383. Garcia-Mantrana, I., et al., Shifts on Gut Microbiota Associated to Mediterranean Diet Adherence and Specific Dietary Intakes on General Adult Population. Front Microbiol, 2018. 9: p. 890.
- 384. Wang, Z. and Y. Zhao, *Gut microbiota derived metabolites in cardiovascular health and disease*. Protein Cell, 2018. **9**(5): p. 416-431.
- 385. Mikami, Y., et al., *Do peritoneal macrophages play an essential role in the progression of acute pancreatitis in rats?* Pancreas, 2003. **27**(3): p. 253-60.
- 386. Tomaszewski, M., et al., *Statin-induced myopathies*. Pharmacol Rep, 2011. **63**(4): p. 859-66.
- 387. Horodinschi, R.N., et al., *Treatment with Statins in Elderly Patients*. Medicina (Kaunas), 2019. **55**(11).
- 388. Girard, M., et al., *Long term outcome of MPI-CDG patients on D-mannose therapy*. J Inherit Metab Dis, 2020. **43**(6): p. 1360-1369.
- 389. Davis, J.A. and H.H. Freeze, *Studies of mannose metabolism and effects of long-term mannose ingestion in the mouse*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2001. **1528**(2-3): p. 116-26.

8. Copyright

No copyright infringement intended in this work. I do not own the rights of figure 1 [17], 2[65], 4[248], 5[282], and 6[307]. References to the original authors are attached in each figure.

- Figure 3 has been adapted from "Libby, P., et al., Atherosclerosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers, 2019.5(1): p. 56."

- Figure 7 has been adapted from "Associates, T.c. Aortic valve stenosis. 2020; Available from: <u>https://tampacardio.com/cardiovascular-health/aortic-valve-stenosis/</u>." And "OpenStax. Anatomy and Physiology. 2013; Available from: https://openstax.org/books/anatomy-and-physiology/pages/1-introduction."